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Corporate Information
NAIE R

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
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Corporate Information (Continued)

INCIN=Vo3C)

AUDITORS

OOP CPA & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

LEGAL ADVISOR
Bird & Bird

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China, Zhangping Branch
China Construction Bank, Zzhangping Branch
Bank of China, Zhangping Branch

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit B, 14/F, Eton Building
288 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC

Fushan Industrial District
Zhangping, Fujian, the PRC

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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Corporate Information (Continued)
NAIE R (@)

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EEROBEERLSE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited BEERREFHELZBRAA
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor BE

Hopewell Centre EF

183 Queen'’s Road East R KNER183%

Wan Chai AL

Hong Kong 1748171217 165% &
WEBSITE Huh
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STOCK CODE Bz 34K 5%

1237 1237

4 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024



Financial Summary

BT F5 1 2

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (=B #5750 AN EBETF L HR)

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-B=+—-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZEImE - —T--F —T-—-F CZT-ITF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFR ARETT ARE®ETT AR%®ETT ARETR
Continuing operations BEGEER
Revenue WA 409,620 297,530 465,037 608,074 492,589
Cost of sales HEMAR (359,898) (277,352) (411,164) (486,390) (485,241)
Gross profit E7 49,722 20,178 53,873 121,684 7,348
Other revenue H A 30,177 24,775 15,826 15,783 17,626
Other net gain/(loss) Hiplas/ (BB F (22,876) 2,168 1,980 8435 (39,416)
Selling and distribution expenses BERDHEEAY (15,257) (14,650) (35,533) (46,360) 21,721)
Administrative expenses THRY (37,558) (31,836) (48,028) (62,155) (57,269)
(Provision of)/Reversal of expected 4 REEMNFELEE
credit loss on financial assets BRz (EE) /2 (4,549) (1,174) 5,752 2,529 (3,933)
Finance costs BEMR (3,860) (1,359) (1,013) (1,245) (162)
Share of profits and losses of AEEE AR 28Kk
associates B - - - - (287)
(Loss)/Profit before tax from REFELEE5BEN
continuing operations BEAT (B518) B (4,201) (1,898) (7,143) 38,171 (97,814)
Income tax (expenses)/credit e (BX) /#% 7,184 (466) 359 10,153 4,119
(Loss)/Profit for the year from REFHBEERHH
continuing operations FN(B8) /EH 2,983 (2,364) (6,784) 48,324 (93,695)
RRHEYIERERAR

B EER



Financial Summary (continued)
BB HE (5

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (= &#H 750 AN R FLir)

For the year ended 31 December
HE+-A=+—-HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
“BCNE -—T-=F —T--fF T ZTC°ER
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETI
Discontinued operation BIERE
Loss for the year from a RELEBNFRER
discontinued operation - - - 612) (587)
Gain on de-registered of B A AR
a subsidiary, net Wz 388 = - - - 1,183
(Loss)/Profit for the year from RELFEBHFR
a discontinued operation (B518),/&H - - - (612) 596
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(EE) /5 - (2,364) (6,784) 47,712 (93,099)
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
AE% AR AR AR AR
(Loss)/Earnings per share attributable A2 B & BRIER A A
to ordinary equity holders of B2k (E8)/
the Company (note) A (HIEE)
Basic: B
(Loss)/Profit for the year (B8 5H 0.03 (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28)
(Loss)/Prafit from continuing SRS X
operations (B8),/ &H 0.03 (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28)
Diluted: B
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR(EE)/GH 0.03 (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28)
(Loss)/Profit from continuing FELEEBN
operations (B8) /&7 0.03 (0.03) (0.08) 057 (1.28)
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Financial Summary (continued)
B E ()

(In RMB'000 unless otherwise stated) (=& 750 AN R FLIR)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

AE AERES

As at 31 December

®+=R=+-H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

ZBEIME -—T-=F —ZT--F —T--F -T-FTHF

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRE AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETR

Total Assets BERE 1,210,828 1,054,741 1,016,591 989,375 878,878

Total Liabilities BEASE 335,972 182,369 136,214 113,983 66,276

Total Non-Controlling Interest FRRERAE - - 884 5,520 -

Total Equity ExeE 874,856 872,372 879,493 869,872 812,602
R YR RERA T

B EER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IE [E & e £ 0 AT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Segment review

The Group’s core business segments are comprised of
manufacturing and sales of wooden products and manufacturing

and sales of renewable energy products. The performance of our
business segments are as follows:

FE O
7> Hf [B1 A

AEERZLEBRIATOM EERHERH
mAREENEERSERRER RASKE
DHEBZ RIBEAT :

Segment revenue % to total segment
derived from revenue derived from  Reportable segment
external customers Change  external customers profit/(loss)
FEIMBERZ HEESMBERZ QL2
SEBBA £ HABEAEAR &8/ (B#8)
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEomE —T-=F ZECmE -6 ZBIME —T--F
RMB'000 RMB'000 % % % RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT BAL BSLL BA ARBTRT ARETZT
Manufacturing and sales of ~ AERBERLS
wooden products 407,382 295,084 38.1 99.5 99.2 4,132 (6,120)
Manufacturing and salesof ~ £EREEBALRER
renewable energy products 2,238 2,446 -85 0.5 038 174 1,066
409,620 297,530 377 100.0 100.0 4,306 (5,054)

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE R E DT (8

During the Reporting Year, the distribution of revenue from our global
markets are as follows:

RBEFE ZFKREE2HETHZRAD BN
T

% to total
Revenue Change Revenue
KA -1 HHRBEATAL

2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE_ME -—T-=fF “EBOME -—T-o=fF
RMB’'000 RMB'000 % % %
ARBTRT AR®TT Bt Bok Btk
The PRC H 61,698 49,625 24.3 15% 17%
Australasia SBAF R 281,188 213,193 319 69% 72%
North America =M 25,839 3,962 552.2 6% 1%
Europe BUM 29,103 20,908 392 7% 7%
Asia Pacific (exclusive of the PRC)  TvAE (FEEFE) 11,792 9,842 19.8 3% 3%
409,620 297,530 37.7 100% 100%

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products remains to be the
Group's largest business segment, contributing 99.5% of the Group's
revenue. The revenue derived from such business increased by
38.1%.

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products is the principal
segment of the Group. Market demand from the all markets for
the Group's products has shown improvement in 2024. As a result,
revenue from manufacturing and sales of wooden products during
the Reporting year increased by 38.1% to RMB407.4 million (2023:
RMB295.1 million), and recorded a reportable segment profit of
RMB4.1 million (2023: a reportable segment loss of RMB6.1 million).

The Group's renewable energy business focuses on the recycling of
leftover sawdust from the production of our wooden products into
biomass pellet fuel. Revenue from the renewable energy business
decreased by 8.5% to RMB2.2 million during the reporting year, with
a profit of approximately RMBO0.2 million (2023: revenue of RMB2.4
million and profit of RMB1.0 million).

HERKBEABBDEARERANEBDE
TE A B B999.5% © 1Lt 38 3 75 P 5 W ASE AN
38.1% °

FERBEANMAREE T EXK-E
MEHAEBREROMBERERKE_S-_NFH
& Bt RBEFE £ERBEEARR
WA N38.1% = ARK407 45 &L (=2 ==
F:AREE29518 8 70) REE ] 2|5 0% 7
ARBAIEBE T (ZE2-=F 0 2WMHLERE
ARBECIEETT) -

AEBEHERERERZ FREIBMARREER
BRELENERE RAESEELAEME BN
ME - RBEFE BEEREFHBBA TR
85%EARKE22EE T MEFENKNAARKEC2
BET(ZZ_=F  ARARB248E TR
wmHABAREIOEET) -

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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I\/Ianagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

ERETREDT 0

FINANCIAL REVIEW B % Bl B

Revenue by product category REmMBERE » A
2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARBFT
Wooden products NE G 407,382 295,084
Renewable energy products BAEERER 2,238 2,446
Total et 409,620 297,530

Revenue from wooden products remained the largest income stream
of the Group during the Reporting Year. Revenue from such category
increased by 38.1% to RMB407.4 million (2023: RMB295.1 million),
representing 99.5% of total sales for the Reporting Year (2023: 99.2%),
mainly attributable to the increase in sales to the Australasian
markets.

During the Reporting Year, the Group's revenue from the renewable
energy business decreased by 8.5% to approximately RMB2.2 million
(2023: RMB2.4 million), due to the decrease in demand from the
domestic renewable energy market.

Gross profit and gross margin

Gross profit increase to approximately RMB49.7 million (2023:
RMB20.2 million) as a result of the increase of gross profit margin
in the reporting year to 12.1% (2023: 6.8%), mainly because of the
improved pricing condition of construction materials.

Other income

During the Reporting Year, other income was RMB30.2 million (2023:
RMB24.8 million) mainly represented by bank interest income and
government subsidies received during the Reporting Year.

Other losses, net

The Group recorded other losses, net of RMB22.9 million for the
Reporting Year (2023: gains of RMB2.2 million), which was mainly
derived from net foreign exchange loss during the Reporting Year.

RFEFE - RERBAD BAE@EN & AR
HOR o 2 2 BRI A KB IN38.1% = A R #6407.48
BL(ZEZ=F: ARB29SI1EET) 6%
S EGAEEEEMN9.5% (Z T = =F:99.2%)
FERARAF IR TIS A $H S AT

RBREFE REBREBEEREFHRA
A B A B A B IR T 5 00 7 OB A i1 T 158.5%
ENARB22BEBT(ZZE_=F: ARM24
BET) e

EFRER =
RIFEFE EFMELELAZT2I1% (T - =
F:68%) HHEAEMENARENTES

T(ZZZ=F: AR%202887T)  T2H
REEMHE BRI B

H A

RIEFE - A RABARBI0 28T (=
To=F: ARMUSHET) TEARESF
R MR 2 $RAT R B B B B o

H b E5 185 58

R|EFE AEESERMEBIEAR
B2 9B B (ZF - S5 M AR22E
BIL)  EERAREFEELFER
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l\/lanagement Discussion and Analysis (continued)

BB HEAD 8

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses incurred during the Reporting
Year were RMB15.3 million (2023: RMB14.7 million) which was a
result of the increase in turnover and number of shipments during
the Reporting Year.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses incurred during the Reporting Year
amounted to RMB37.6 million (2023: RMB31.8 miillion). The increase
was mainly due to the increase in research and development costs
during the Reporting Year.

Finance costs

Our finance costs was approximately RMB3.9 million (2023: RMB1.4
million), which mainly represented by interest on bank borrowings
during the Reporting Year.

Income tax credit/(expense)

The Group recorded an income tax credit of RMB7.2 million (2023:
income tax expense of RMBO0.5 million), mainly attributable to the
reversal of income tax expenses over provided in prior years.

Liquidity and capital resources

The Group principally meets its working capital and other liquidity
requirements through operating cash flows and proceeds from
bank borrowings. The Group anticipates that it can sufficiently meet
funding needs for working capital and capital expenditure. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had current assets of RMB765.7 million
(31 December 2023: RMB515.1 million), of which cash and cash
equivalents were RMB27.2 million (31 December 2023: RMB32.5
million).

The Group's cash is generally deposited with banks and denominated
mostly in RMB, USD and AUD. As at 31 December 2024, total banking
facilities utilised amounted to RMB186.4 million (31 December 2023:
RMB86.9 million) and these were mainly denominated in RMB. All of
the Group'’s banking facilities were subject to the fulfilment of certain
covenants, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2024, the current ratio and quick ratio were
3.7:1 and 3.1:1 respectively (31 December 2023: 3.1:1 and 2.4:1
respectively).

%%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
EFEEANHEERDERAIAARE
35%7‘5(_::5¢'/\E¢%§147§%ﬁ>'
gﬂaﬁéi REFEHEE REERBIEMATHR -

TR
BEFERMNTEALBARKTCAET
(ZBo=F: ARKINSHET) - REMEE
Fi O 455 4 5 T 3 B 3 0 A B o

B & AR
RPNREXREAHDARBIEE (T ==
FARBI14BE D) TE2ARAREFERITE
KA B o

FrgtiEe,” (Fx)
ARBNFEHELBARKI2ABT (ZF
CEF AN AARKOSHEL) B
R R B 4 SRS BB R AT

REE® MNEREIR
AEBTIEFBEER DR RIRITERNMFAE
REREEEEGRAMEST K -AEHTE
HERASMREBEEREARAICESRR
KoM ZBZMF+_A=+—H FrEEEHR
MBEEARBIGSTBEEL(ZE_=F+=
H T—H:ARMKSIIEEL) EFRER
ReEBUWRARE2/I2EET (ZET =%
TZA=t—H: AR¥3258&8T) -

AEAMRS —BESREBTLERIBS LA
RE -ZETRBRTHE- R_T-_WF+=A
—t—H ASEEHARTREEEEGLA
ARBIBABEE L (ZEZ=F+ZA=+—
H: ARBIBEIL) WEZUARKEE A
SEMARTMEAENESREEMIEE
THRER 2 ETR#-

RZZE-_WNF+_A=+—8B REBLLERR
R DR AIZIRIIN(ZEZ=F+=_H
=+—H:251A3.1:1Kk24:1) ¢
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

‘S 18 2 5 5w B 0 AT ()

Pledge of assets

As detailed in note 16 to this announcement, the Group pledged its
land use rights, buildings and pledged deposits to secure for certain
banking facilities.

Capital expenditure

During the Reporting Year, the Group's total expenditure in respect
of property, plant and equipment and non-current deposit for
acquisitions of property, plant and equipment amounted to RMB11.1
million (2023: RMB4.1 million).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

The Group's sales are mainly denominated in AUD, USD and
RMB while our cost of sales and operating expenses are mainly
denominated in RMB. Therefore, the Group's profit margin would be
affected if RMB appreciates against AUD and USD as the Group may
not be able to reflect the appreciation in selling prices to overseas
customers that were determined in AUD and USD. In response to this,
the Group manages fluctuations in the exchange rate of RMB against
AUD and USD by entering into foreign currency forward contracts
mainly denominated in AUD, USD and RMB with banks when sales
contracts were entered with overseas customers.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had foreign currency forward
contracts with their fair values recognised as derivative financial
instruments (assets) of RMB Nil (2023: RMB771,000) and derivative
financial instruments (liabilities) of RMB Nil (2023: RMB22,000). The
changes in fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts were
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. All of the
foreign currency forward contracts are to be settled within one year.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, we employed a total of 252 (2023: 144) full-
time employees, mainly in the PRC and Hong Kong which included
management staff, product designers, technicians, salespersons and
workers. The Group has been consistently increasing production
process automation, strengthening the training of staff with an
emphasis on high-technique processing with a mission on the
continuous development and enhancing of competitiveness.
The Group offered highly competitive salary packages, as well as
discretionary bonuses and contribution to social insurance to its
employees.

BE A

BIA AN 6T RL - ARERERE L0
ERR BFREEFRFRURES TROM
B

BAFX
R#sFE AEBEMENE BERRENA
PO BB BT M % - RS R AR 4 3 B 04
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BRI B BERITAIIZLEZRIT - ETRA
REFENERIIESHAETEARELIRT
SEFlEESEE

RZZ_WFE+_A=+—R KAEENIER
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RMITA(ABARBZEL(ZZ-_=ZF: AR
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BIEE R E DT (8

The Group’s emolument policies are formulated based on the
performance of individual employee which will be reviewed
periodically. Apart from the provident fund scheme (operation in
accordance with the provisions of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for Hong Kong employees) or social insurance
(including retirement pension insurance, medical insurance,
unemployment insurance, injury insurance and maternity insurance
for the PRC employees), discretionary bonuses are also awarded to
employees and directors according to the assessment of individual
performance. Since the adoption of the share option scheme on
15 June 2012 and up to 31 December 2024, no options have been
granted.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Group has no other material events after the Reporting Year.

OUTLOOK

The global wooden products industry is experiencing transformative
growth, driven by increasing demand for sustainable construction
materials and eco-conscious consumer goods. With climate action
accelerating, engineered wood products are gaining prominence
in green building projects, supported by their carbon sequestration
benefits. Concurrently, the wooden garden products sector is
expanding as urbanization and outdoor living trends fuel demand
for decking, planters, and landscaping solutions. The industry’s shift
toward circular economy practices-emphasizing recycling, waste-
to-energy solutions, and certified sustainable sourcing-aligns with
global decarbonization goals, presenting opportunities for the Group.

As global and Australian markets increasingly prioritize sustainability,
the Group is strategically positioned to leverage its integrated
bioenergy and wooden products expertise. By aligning innovation
with regulatory and consumer trends, the Group anticipates
strengthened revenue streams and long-term stakeholder value in
the years beyond.
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ate Governance Report
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. The Board believes that a high standard of corporate
governance will provide a framework for the Company to formulate
its business strategies and policies, and manage and lower the
associated risks through effective internal control procedures. It will
also enhance the transparency of the Company and strengthen the
accountability to its shareholders and creditors.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and certain
recommended best practices. The Company has complied with all
the applicable code provisions in the Code throughout the Year
except for the deviations disclosed under the sections headed “The
Board” and “Accountability and Audit” in this report.

THE BOARD

The Board oversees the management of the business and affairs of
the Company. The Directors are accountable for making decisions
objectively in the best interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on all major aspects of
the Company's affairs, including the approval and monitoring of key
policy matters, overall strategies, business plans and annual budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, material transactions,
major capital expenditure, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The Board may delegate aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management. In particular, the
day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the chief
executive officer of the Group, Mr. Wu Zheyan, and his management
team.

The Company has throughout the Year met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management expertise.
At all times during the Year, the independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

EFEEARERRKRKINEEER-EFEM
B BKFHNEEERBRARBRHER U
i E H ZE TSR A S BUR A B M A AR B i AR
FEEREEMBRRE RSARANERE
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Bz —HRENREERIN
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The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. The Directors have full access to the information of the Group
and independent professional advice at all times whenever deemed
necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be
given written notice of the meeting at least 14 days in advance and
an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days
prior to the meeting. For other meetings, the Directors are given as
much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.

Details of directors’ attendance at Board meetings, Committee
meetings and 2023 Annual General Meeting held during the year are
set out in the following table:

EESATHRETES Itiﬁf/jF
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TRINBEERAFELRESESTEH &
ZECEREN T FREAFRGNFHE

Meeting attendance/number of meetings

BHHERY EERH
2023 Risk
Annual Audit Remuneration Nomination Management
General Board Committee Committee  Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors EFeh —EZ= FHERE FHERE REZRE RRERZAY
BREFXKE EFSER il L1 | il
Executive Directors BTEF
Ms. Xie Qingmei (Chairiady) SEEL L (LE) 171 22 NATER N/A iR N/A 7N A N/A R
Mr.Wu Zheyan (Chief Executive Officer)  REE R (7TH#E#) 0/1 22 NATER N/A TiE R N/A i@ N/A @A
Independent non-executive BUFRTES
Directors
Prof. Jin Zhongwei SERYR
(resigned on 29 July 2024) (RZZB-MFE+A
ZHNBET) 0 1/1 1/1 111 11 1/1
Prof. SuWengiang BRGEH
(resigned on 29 July 2024) (RZZZWFtA
—+ABEE) 0/1 11 11 1n 1" 1/1
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry HEEEE 0/1 212 212 2/2 212 212
Ms. Wu Liping RE¥LT
(appointed on 29 July 2024) (RZZ-mWE+A
ZtHhBEZME) 0/0 11 1/1 11 1" 11
Ms. Zheng Binggian kERL
(appointed on 29 July 2024) (RZB-mFE+A
ZHNREZE) 0/0 1/1 1/1 111 11 11

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the Code, the Board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Board only held two regular meetings during the Year to
approve the interim results of 2024 and annual results of 2023 whilst
other matters of the Board were dealt with by written resolutions or
ad hoc Board meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out in
code provision C.1 in the Code, including the development of policies
and practices on corporate governance, monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewing the compliance with the Code, disclosure in
this report and legal and regulatory requirements of the Group.

THE CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Ms. Xie Qingmei, an executive Director of the Company, is the
chairlady of the Board.

Mr. Wu Zheyan is the chief executive officer of the Company.

Further details are disclosed in the section headed “The Board” of
this report.

DIRECTORS AND COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two executive
Directors and three non-executive Directors. Further details of the
composition of the Board are disclosed in the section headed “The
Board"” of this report.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled
professionals with a broad range of expertise and experience in
the fields of accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise
and number in the Board ensure that strong independent views and
judgement are brought in the Board's deliberations and that such
views and judgement carry weight in the Board's decision-making
process. Their presence and participation also enable the Board
to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and other
mandatory reporting requirements, and provide adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
and the Company.

Each independent non-executive Director gives the Company an
annual confirmation of his independence. The Company considers
such Directors to be independent under the guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Each Director, upon reasonable request, is given access to
independent professional advice in circumstances he may deem
appropriate and necessary for the discharge of his duties to the
Company, at the expense of the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND ROTATION
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
15 June 2023, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each
of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed for a term of three years commencing
from 15 June 2023. None of the Directors has entered into a service
contract with any member of the Group (excluding contracts expiring
or determinable by the employer within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

Pursuant to the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third
of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to Shareholders
for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

reputation for integrity;,

accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to race,
gender, age (18 years or above), educational background,
professional experience, skills and length of service,

qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing
Rules,

Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.
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Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need
for an additional Director or a member of senior management, the
following procedure will be followed:

)

The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors,

The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

The Nomination Committee would then make recommendation
to the Board on the proposed candidate(s) and the terms and
conditions of the appointment;

The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board, being
particularly mindful of gender balance;

In the case of the appointment of an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess
the independence of the Director in accordance with the
factors set out in Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any
amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from
time to time; and

The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
committee.
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According to the Articles and in the opinion of the Board, Ms. Wu
Liping, Ms. Zheng Binggian and Ms. Xie Qingmei shall retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
same meeting.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed and
put forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee (as defined
below) as set out below under the section headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Remuneration for executive Directors and senior management
is determined in accordance with performance, professional
experiences and the prevailing market practices. The remuneration
of non-executive Directors is subject to regular assessment by the
Remuneration Committee (as defined below).

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment so as
to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully aware of
his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company should be responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of the Directors.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the relevant code
provision. The Company had received from each of the Directors the
record of training the Directors received.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. After making
specific enquiry to all the Directors, the Company confirms that all
the Directors have complied with the standards as stipulated in the
Model Code throughout the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up four Board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, the nomination committee
and the risk management committee (collectively the “Board
Committees”), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Ms. Wu Liping and Ms.
Zheng Binggian. Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee shall assist
the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and overseeing
responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, risk management
and internal control systems and internal and external audit
functions. The Audit Committee is further authorised by the Board to
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and is tasked
with recommending to the Board appropriate actions emanating from
such investigations. The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to
personnel, records, internal and external auditors, risk assessment
and assurance and senior management, as may be appropriate in
the discharge of its functions.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities

by:

making recommendations to the Board on the reappointment
of the external auditor and approval of the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditor,

monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standard, and discussing with the external auditor
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations;

implementing the Company’s policy on the engagement of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services;

reviewing, and monitoring the integrity of, the financial
statements of the Company and the Company’s interim report
to ensure that the information presents a true and balanced
assessment of the Company’s financial position;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems to ensure that management has
discharged its duty to have effective systems;

reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

reviewing the external auditor's management letter, material
queries raised by the external auditor to the management, if
any, in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and the management’s response to such
queries; and

reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the Code on
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain external

legal

or other independent professional advice and to secure the

attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it
considers necessary in the performance of its functions. The Audit
Committee is provided with sufficient resources by the Company
to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee’s specific terms
of reference are available on request to any shareholder of the
Company and are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company’s website, www.merrygardenholdings.com.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee together with management has
reviewed the Code, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the Group's internal control and financial
reporting matters, including a review of the annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2024, with recommendation to the Board for
approval. The Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board
that OOP & Co. ("“O0P") be appointed as the external auditors of the
Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Ms. Wu
Liping and Ms. Zheng Binggian. Ms. Wu Liping is the chairperson of
the Remuneration Committee.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors” and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b)  to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

(c)  to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

(d) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

(e) to review and approve management’s remuneration proposals
by reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives;
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(f)  to review and approve compensation payable to the executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(g to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to

dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

(h)  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee’s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the executive Directors and
senior management of the Company, and offered advice on the
same to the Board. The Remuneration Committee also resolved to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Ms. Wu Liping and
Ms. Zheng Binggian. Ms. Zheng Binggian is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;,

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;
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to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

P
=

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Group.

Where vacancy on the Board exists, the Nomination Committee
will carry out a selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates
for directorship.

The Nomination Committee’'s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company'’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and
experience) of the Board, conducted performance evaluations to
assess whether the non-executive Directors have spent enough
time in fulfilling their duties, assessed the independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and had been keeping under
review the leadership needs of the organisation, both executive and
non-executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
organisation to compete effectively in the marketplace.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and to enhance the quality of
performance of the Company. The Policy aims at achieving diversity
on the Board.

Measurable Objectives and Selection

In designing the Board's composition, a number of perspectives
which include race, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, industry experience, technical and professional
experience, knowledge, skills, length of service, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates will be taken
into consideration. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that
the candidates will bring to the Board. Candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board currently consists of one female member. The Board will
take opportunity to increase the proportion of female members
over time when selecting and making recommendation on suitable
candidates for Board appointments. The Board would ensure that
appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender
parity. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of
Directors who have direct experience in the Group's core markets,
with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group's strategy.

Implementation and Monitoring

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
board diversity policy and report to the Board annually.
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee comprises all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, Prof. Jin
Zhongwei and Prof. Su Wengiang. Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry is the
chairman of the Risk Management Committee.

The major duties of the Risk Management Committee are as follows:

(@ to review the Group risk, capital and liquidity management
framework, the Group's risk appetite, its risk policies and
standards, and supporting risk limits, including the parameters
used and the methodology adopted, and the processes used
for identifying and assessing risks;

(b)  to review material risk exposures of the Group, including
market, credit, insurance, operational, liquidity, and economic
and regulatory capital risks against the Group's risk
measurement methodologies and management actions to
monitor and control such exposures;

(c) to review the standard for accurate and timely monitoring of
large exposures and certain risk types of critical importance,
and the Group's capability to identify and manage new risk
types;

(d)  toreceive reports and recommendations from management on
the Group's attitude to and tolerance of risk, including financial
and non-financial risks;

(e) to oversee the Group's processes and policies for determining
risk tolerance and review management’'s measurement and
effectiveness of, and compliance with, approved Group risk
tolerance levels and policies and standards, and the resultant
action in respect of policy breaches;

(f)  to review the risks inherent in strategic transactions and
business plans and provide the Board with input on the risk/
reward trade offs implicit within those plans; and
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The Risk Management Committee’s specific terms of reference are
available on request to any shareholder of the Company and are
posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website,
www.merrygardenholdings.com.

During the Year, the Risk Management Committee has evaluated and
assessed the effectiveness and adequacy of the Terms of Reference
of the Risk Management Committee.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Company to ensure that these
financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

The statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is
set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 52 to 59.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Pursuant to Code provision C.5.1, the Management should provide all
members of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the issuer’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has deviated from D.1.2 in that while the management
has updated most of the Directors on a monthly basis about the
business operation and performance of the Company, not all the
Directors received such updates as the monthly updates were
conducted on-site at the Group’s factory in China. Members of the
Board who did not attend such on-site meetings did not receive the
updates. However, the management would provide detailed updates
to all the Directors on a half-yearly and yearly basis. In the event
there are any significant updates to be provided, the management
will update all the Directors as early as practicable for discussion
and resolution. The Company also has in place a system for every
Director to make enquiries with the senior management about the
business operation of the Group and to give suggestions or feedback
in the event such Director is not able attend the monthly on-site
updates session.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor's independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the audit
process. It receives a letter from OOP the independent auditor,
confirming their independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with representatives of OOP to consider the scope of its audit,
approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit
services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit Committee also makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of
OOP

The remuneration paid or payable to OOP of the Company for audit
services for the Year was approximately HKD560,000.

The remuneration paid or payable to Ascenda Cachet of the
Company for non-audit services for the Year was nil.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged Mr. Wong Wai Lun as the Company's
company secretary. Its primary contact person at the Company is Mr.
Wu Zheyan, an executive director of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There are no significant changes in the Articles and the memorandum
of association of the Company during the Year.

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, members holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the Year, the Board complied with the Code provisions on
risk management and internal control as set out in the Code. The
Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group. The systems are designed to manage the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or l0ss.

The management of the Company has established a set of
comprehensive policies, standards and procedures in areas of
operational, financial and risk controls for safeguarding assets against
unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper accounting
records; and for ensuring the reliability of financial information to
achieve a satisfactory level of assurance against the likelihood of the
occurrence of fraud and errors.

The Board has overseen the Company's risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review
of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ risk
management and internal control systems has been conducted
annually and the systems are considered to be effective and
adequate. The Company also has an internal audit function to carry
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the systems, and has procedures in place to keep
information confidential and manage actual or potential conflicts of
interest. Stringent internal structures have been designed to prevent
the misuse of inside information and avoid conflicts of interest.
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The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing
in the securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance with
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Other employees of the Group who
are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company
are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any inside information and
any information which may potentially constitute inside information
is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to the Board and for
the Board to decide on the need for disclosure. Inside information
and other information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in due course.

SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD AND
PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders or investors can contact the Company in the following
ways to make enquiry or to provide suggestions:

Tel: (852) 3904 1867
Postal Address: Unit B, 14/F, Eton Building
288 Des Voeux Road Central
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting, the shareholders
should submit a written notice of those proposals with detailed
contact information to the Company's principal place of business
stated above.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business and its outlook are set out in
the sections of Chairlady’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis. Certain financial key performance indicators are
provided in the section of Financial Summary. The Group has no
material event affecting the Group that have occurred since the end
of the Year.

The Group complies with the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance, the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFQ") for the disclosure of information and corporate
governance. The Group also complies with the requirements of
Employment Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational
safety for the interest of employees of the Group.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to minimising
its carbon footprint as a socially responsible enterprise. Carbon
footprint is defined as the total amount of direct and indirect
emissions of Green House Gases (GHGS) expressed in terms
of the equivalent amount of Carbon Dioxide of (CO,) emission.
Non-hazardous wastes produced from the Group mainly consist
of used paper such as office papers and marketing materials. To
minimise the impact on carbon footprint and the environment, the
Group implements the following practices to use paper efficiently:

Duplex printing is set as the default mode for most network
printers,

o Employees are reminded to practice photocopying wisely;
o Employees are encouraged to use both sides of paper;
o Paper is separated from other waste for easier recycling; and

o Boxes and trays are placed beside photocopiers as containers
to collect single-sided paper for reuse purpose.
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Electricity consumption is identified as having an adverse impact on
the environment and natural resources. A typical commercial building
uses more energy for lighting than for other electric equipment. The
Group is determined to reduce energy consumption and implement
conservation practices to reduce the effect of carbon footprint.
Air conditioning and light zone arrangements reduce unnecessary
electricity usage; employees enforce good practices in maintenance
of lighting and electric equipment to ensure they are kept in good
and proper condition to maximise efficiency.

Key Risk Factors

The following lists out the key risks and uncertainties facing the
Group.

Impact of Local and International Regulations

The business operation of the Group is also subject to government
policy, relevant regulations and guidelines established by the
regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with the rules and
requirements may lead to penalties, amendments or suspension of
the business operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets as well as
conducting studies to assess the impact of such changes. As far as
the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects which may
have significant impact on the Group during the Year.

Third-Party Risks

The Group has been relying on third-party service providers in parts
of business to improve performance and efficiency of the Group.
While gaining the benefits from external service providers, the
management realises that such operational dependency may pose
a threat of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service
including reputation damage, business disruption and monetary
losses. To address such uncertainties, the Group engages only
reputed third-party providers and closely monitors their performance.
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises the accomplishment of the employees by
providing comprehensive benefit packages career development
opportunities and internal training appropriate to individual needs.
The Group provides a healthy and safe workplace for all employees.
No strikes and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents occurred
during the Year.

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers to
meet our customers’ needs in an effective and efficient manner.
The departments work closely to make sure the tendering and
procurement process is conducted in an open, fair and just manner.
The Group's requirements and standards are also well-communicated
to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers through
various means and channels, including usage of market research
to understand customer trends and needs and regular analyse on
customer feedback. The Group also conducts comprehensive tests
and checks to ensure that only quality products and services are
offered to the customers.

RESULTS & DIVIDENDS

Results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 60 to 61. Other movements in reserves are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 64.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2023: Nil).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
to allow Shareholders to share the Company’'s profits and for the
Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend
will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing
any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter
alia, the Group’s financial results, the general financial condition of
the Group, the Group's current and future operations, the level of
the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants, liquidity position and capital requirement of the
Group, surplus received from the Company’s subsidiaries and any
other factors that the Board deem appropriate. The Company’s ability
to pay dividends is also subject to the requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and all relevant applicable laws, rules and regulations in
the Cayman Islands, Hong Kong and the Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company. The Company does not have any pre-
determined distribution ratio. The Group’s dividend distribution record
in the past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the
amount of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company
in the future.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 5 to 7 of
this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 28(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's aggregate amounts
of reserves available for distribution were approximately
RMB233,788,000 (2023: RMB225,380,000), of which nil (2023: Nil) has
been proposed as a final dividend for the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company was
incorporated.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group's five largest customers accounted for
approximately 70.5% (2023: 56.8%) of the Group's total revenue
and the Group's largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 24.0% (2023: 16.5%) of the Group's total revenue.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
65.8% (2023: 79.2%) of the Group's total purchases, while the largest
supplier for the year accounted for approximately 20.4% (2023:
28.6%) of the Group's total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their
respective close associates or any of the shareholders of the
Company who owns more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share
capital has any interest in any of the Group's five largest customers
or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
Throughout the Year, the composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors:
Ms. Xie Qingmei
Mr. Wu Zheyan

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Wu Liping
Ms. Zheng Binggian
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry

A description of the Directors is set out in the section headed “Board
of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for
the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he is taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein or
which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules, will be as follows:

EERSRITHRABRKD HER
BREFHEZRKE

R-ZE-WE+-A=+—H EEHAQT
BRTBABEARAREMAEEZE (EER
FEHREIEGEAIEXVED) B, - AR D RE
HHREAREESRPEKRIIBEXVIBETRES
DHBENGRABARBIMNESRAR (B
ERBEFEF RS GRAOABIEXHEEHEE
FERBEENERIRAR) KB BEBLERHE
{51 235216 /B 52 ARG FT it & R M sk iR & £ 70
BB SRI0F B EMBITAEZHTIERS
B2 SF B B A& AN A B R I 32 P 0 AR A RO
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Interest in shares IRt =
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
SRR EH
EENs S BaEH"E Ein 8 E B2 LE(%)
Mr. Wu Zheyan Interest in controlled corporation/ 8,992,948 9.76%
Long position (Note)
REBELE RESEENER TR (M)
Beneficial owner/Long position 11,459,540 12.44%
E=EBAN TR
Ms. Xie Qingmei Beneficial owner/Long position 1,675,068 1.82%
AEFER L EnBEAN TR

Note:  Mr. Wu Zheyan is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Green Seas
Capital Limited, his wholly-owned company.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had interests or in short positions in the shares,
underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation defined under the SFO
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and 8 of part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein or which will be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as at 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or the Controlling Shareholders (as defined below) of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective close associates has any
competing interests which need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than a director
or chief executive of the Company), who had interests or short
positions in the shares or the underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, were as follows:

Interest in shares

FERRRAQ ARG K AABERS
B R RIX R

RZBEZWF+ZA=+—8  TH AL (I
EEUARASMITHAL) RAR R RG kA8
AR TPEBRIBEZLFRPAEKRAEXVBE2R
FEIN MK AETHRENRRIAR  HIREF
% I B &0 55336 16 78 70 A 72 16 P il & e 1 Y
HEmSARR

Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding

Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
SRR EH
£1 98 -1 S BEH"E BEin 8 E B2 LE(%)
Green Seas Capital Limited Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 1) 8,992,948 9.76%
BEmEAAN T8 (K1)
Hong Kong Cheng Kun Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 2) 8,292,000 8.99%
Holdings Limited
BB HERBR A EnBAN TR (Mit2)
Ms. Wong Shun Yi Interest in controlled corporation/ 8,292,000 8.99%
Long position (Note 2)
FlashL T REtlEEN R TR (Mi2)
Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Beneficial owner/Long position (Note 3) 14,035,000 15.23%

Capital Holdings Limited
BERTEESRIZERERA BEmEAAN TR (K:23)
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Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest shares interest (%)
¥ A% 8t ¥
£1. 98 -1 L3 VE £33 B8 B B (%)
EEAE TERMEIERARAF  Interest in controlled corporation/ 14,035,000 15.23%
Long position (Note 3)
ZEtEEE R TR (Mi23)
Mr. Wang Xin Interest in controlled corporation/ 14,035,000 15.23%
Long position (Note 3)
D i RESEENER TR (H1523)
Ms. Wu Baozhen Beneficial owner/Long position 9,730,000 10.56%
REL LT E=nBAN TR
Notes: Mst -
1. The entire issued share capital of Green Seas Capital Limited is legally and 1. Green Seas Capital Limited) & 52 #ITRAHRREZ

beneficially owned by Mr. Wu Zheyan, who is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Green Seas Capital Limited.

2. The entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Cheng Kun Holdings Limited is
legally and beneficially owned by Ms. Wong Shun Yi, who is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Hong Kong Cheng Kun Holdings Limited.

3. The entire issued share capital of Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Capital Holdings
Limited is legally and beneficially owned by FiS¥HIE) T ¥ X &EERAERA
7). The 98% issued share capital of E/8H13) T ¥R HZERER AR is legally
and beneficially owned by Mr. Wang Xin, who is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Hong Kong Guoyuan Group Capital Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person,
other than the Directors whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, who had an
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares that
were required to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded pursuant to Section 336 of Part
XV of the SFO as of 31 December 2024.

SEREREBERHEAR REEKEHR BN Green Seas
Capital Limited#5 4 &)l R #E B i 25 o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 15 June
2012, the Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising
and acknowledging the contributions the eligible participants had
or may have made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion,
grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to the Directors
(including executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors), the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries and employees of the Group and any other persons
(including consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers, in
its absolute discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group. The Directors were authorised to grant options to subscribe
for shares of the Company and to allot, issue and deal with the
ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and to take all such steps as may be
necessary and/or desirable to implement and give effect to the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and under any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue
immediately following completion of the Global Offering (as defined
in the Company’s prospectus dated 25 June 2012), being 100,000,000
shares, excluding any shares that may be issued under the options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (or any other share option schemes of the Company), unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing
Rules from time to time.
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Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting, the number of shares that may be granted to an
eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of
the Company within any 12-month period. Any grant of options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by our
independent non-executive Directors. Unless otherwise approved by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such
other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules, the number
of shares that may be granted to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive Director or their respective associates
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
shall not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue, having an aggregate
value in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised, and the period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, however, no options shall be exercised 10 years after they
have been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official
closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the shares on the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal
value of a share. The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from the
date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a period of 10
years from that date.

From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective and
unconditional and up to the date of this annual report, no share
options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of ordinary shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is 9,213,705,
representing 10% of the issued shares of the Company.
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Save as the Share Option Scheme and share award scheme as
disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year was the Company,
its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

Other than the Share Option Scheme and share award scheme as
disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares, or that require the Company
to enter into any agreement that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares, have entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the Year.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company, pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 December
2020, adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
for the purpose of (i) to align interests of eligible persons, being
the employees, directors, officers, consultants or advisors of any
member of the Group, with those of the Group through ownership
of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”), dividends and
other distribution paid on Shares and/or increase in value of the
Shares; and (i) to encourage and retain eligible persons to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits of the Group.

The aggregate number of shares to be made pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will not exceed 20% of the
total number of issued shares capital as at the adoption date of the
Share Award Scheme (i.e. 20% of 741,200,400 Shares). The aggregate
number of Award Shares which may be awarded to a selected
person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 2% of the
total number of issued Shares as at the adoption date of the Share
Award Scheme.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the board
of directors, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing from the adoption date.

The Award Shares, once issued, will rank equal to all other issued
Shares at that time and are not subject to any vesting condition. The
selected persons will therefore have the right to receive dividends,
dispose of and/or exercise the rights of the Award Shares as per his/
her own wishes once the Award Shares were issued.
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On 14 December 2020, a total of 42,550,000 Award Shares were
issued to 12 eligible persons (the “2020 Selected Persons”). The
Award Shares were settled by way of issue and allotment of new
Shares on 30 December 2020 pursuant to the general mandate. The
42,550,000 Award Shares represented approximately 5.74% of the
total number of issued Shares and approximately 5.43% of the total
number of Shares in issue as enlarged by the issue and allotment
of the Award Shares. The 2020 Selected Persons are (i) senior and
middle management of the Group and (i) staffs who served the
Group for a long period of time.

The 42,550,000 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 42,550,000 Award Shares
was determined by the closing market price of the Company on
30 December 2020, of which, expenses of HK$6,808,000 (equivalent
to RMB5,777,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

On 10 May 2021, a total of 36,970,000 Award Shares were issued to
11 eligible persons (the “2021 Selected Persons”). The Award Shares
were settled by way of issue and allotment of new Shares on 10 May
2021 pursuant to the general mandate. The 36,970,000 Award Shares
represented approximately 4.72% of the total number of issued
Shares and approximately 4.50% of the total number of Shares in
issue as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the Award Shares.
The 2021 Selected Persons are (i) senior and middle management of
the Group and (i) staffs who served the Group for a long period of
time.

The 36,970,000 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 36,970,000 Award Shares
was determined by the closing market price of the Company on
10 May 2021, of which, expenses of HK$4,990,950 (equivalent to
RMB4,108,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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On 4 June 2021, a total of 29,648,016 Award Shares were issued
to Mr. Wu Zheyan and Ms. Xie Qingmei (the “Connected Selected
Persons”). The Award Shares were settled by way of issue and
allotment of new Shares on 4 June 2021 pursuant to the general
mandate. The 29,648,016 Award Shares represented approximately
3.61% of the total number of issued Shares and approximately 3.49%
of the total number of Shares in issue as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Award Shares. The Connected Selected Persons are
the Directors of the Company.

The 29,648,016 Award Shares had neither any vesting period nor
condition, accordingly, the fair value of 29,648,016 Award Shares
were determined by the closing market price of the Company on
4 June 2021, of which, expenses of HK$4,328,610 (equivalent to
RMB3,598,000) were recognised as expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

On 15 April 2024, the Company granted 3,900,000 Award Shares
involving new Shares to Employee Participants (the “Grantees”) in
accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme (subject to
acceptance by the Grantees), representing approximately 4.23% of
the total Shares in issue as at the date of this announcement and
approximately 4.06% of the total Shares in issue as enlarged by the
issue and allotment of the Award Shares.

As at 31 December 2024 and the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Company had 7,206 Award Shares available for
awarding to eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.008% of the issued Shares as at the
respective dates.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchase, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25% of an
issuer’s total issued share capital must at all times be held by the
public. Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficiency of public float at all times during the Year.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there was no transaction of the Group constituted
non-exempt continuing connected transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules (2023: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in
the normal course of business are provided under note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes
a non-exempt connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed
of Non-Competition”) with Mr. Wu Zheyan and Green Seas Capital
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Controlling Shareholders”) on
15 June 2012 so as to better safeguard the Group from any potential
competition and to formalise the principles for the management
of potential conflicts between them and to enhance our corporate
governance in connection with the listing of the Company's shares
on the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance by the Controlling Shareholders and confirm that
based on confirmations and information provided by each of the
Controlling Shareholders, they were in compliance with the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Year.

The independent non-executive Directors were not required to
review any matter in relation to compliance and enforcement of the
Deed of Non-Competition during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Group were entered into or existed during the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)
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DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group supported a wide variety of charitable
activities in Hong Kong and the PRC. Donations of approximately
RMBNIl (2023: RMB50,000) were made by the Group to various
charitable organisations.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of
their holding of such securities.

AUDITOR

Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited resigned as auditor of the Company
on 4 November 2022 and CWK CPA Limited has been appointed as
the auditor of the Company on 4 November 2022. CWK CPA Limited
resigned as auditor of the Company on 11 November 2024 and OOP
CPA & Co. has been appointed as the auditor of the Company on 11
November 2024. There have been no other changes in auditor during
the preceding three years.

OOP CPA & Co. will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment. A resolution for the reappointment of OOP CPA &
Co. as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Xie Qingmei
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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Board of Directors and Senior Management
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Biographies of each member of the board of directors and senior
management team of the Company during the Year and/or as at the
date of this report are set out below:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wu Zheyan (Mr. Wu), aged 45, is an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Wu was appointed as
a Director on 17 October 2011. He joined Fujian Zhangping Kimura
Forestry Products Co. Ltd (“Zhangping Kimura”) as a workshop
director since 1997 and obtained knowledge and experiences in the
timber products industry including the production process, research
and development works and the invention process of new timber
products. Mr. Wu became the general manager in May 2000 and the
director and legal representative of Zhangping Kimura in January
2006.

Mr. Wu graduated from Sichuan University in June 2009 with a
Diploma in business administration (Distance education). Mr. Wu is
the visiting professor of Central South University of Forestry and
Technology and Fujian Agriculture and Forestry University.

Xie Qingmei (Ms. Xie), aged 57, was appointed as an executive
Director on 15 June 2012 and as the Chairlady on 23 May 2016.
Ms. Xie is primarily responsible for procurement matters in respect
of the Group. She has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management and procurement. Ms. Xie joined the Group in 1999,
and she has been a deputy general manager of Zhangping Kimura
since 2001 and a director of Zhangping Kimura since 2006. Ms. Xie
was in charge of the sales department of Zhangping Kimura as well
as supervising procurement from June 1999 to December 2000, and
has been running the procurement department of Zhangping Kimura
since 2003.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry ("Mr. Tse"), aged 39, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company since 1
September 2022. Mr. Tse has extensive experience in accounting,
auditing and finance fields. Mr. Tse was the chief financial officer and
company secretary of China Yuanbang Property Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (Stock Code: BCD.SI) from April 2016
to May 2018. Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor's degree of Business
Administration in Accounting and Finance from the University of
Hong Kong in 2007. He is currently the company secretary of Moody
Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 1400), a company listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, an
independent non-executive director of CROSSTEC Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3893), a company listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Mr. Tse is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Ms. Wu Liping (“Ms. Wu"), aged 44, she has over 20 years of
experience in sales, project management, accounting and credit
control. Currently, Ms. Wu is serving as a credit controller of a
company in Australia. Ms. Wu has been appointed as the Justice
of Peace in New South Wales, Australia since December 2015. Ms.
Wu obtained a bachelor's degree of Economics from the Hunan
University in China in 2001. She also obtained a master degree
of Professional Accounting from the University of Wollongong in
Australia in 2009.
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Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Ms. zheng Binqgian (“Ms Zheng"), aged 34, she has over
10 years of experience in corporate consulting and project
management. Currently, Ms. Zheng is serving as a chief engineer in
Longyan Shengxin Information Technology Co., Limited (&=
ZBRHRAR AR and she is responsible for corporate strategic
decision making, business planning and project management. Ms.
Zheng obtained a bachelor's degree of Accounting from the Fujian
Agriculture and Forestry University in China in January 2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Wong Wai Lun (3 {&{&) , aged 41. He was appointed as the
Company Secretary on 1 July 2021. Mr. Wong Wai Lun obtained a
bachelor degree of commerce from the University of Queensland in
December 2004. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and has over 20 years of experience
in the field of accounting, auditing, corporate finance, financial
management and corporate governance.
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Independent Auditor's Report
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TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL
TECHNOLOGY AND BIOENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 192, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS
Accounting Standards”) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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Key Audit Matter
RARERER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEMNERNIEEZER

Allowance for expected credit loss of the trade receivables

WEEKFAZ AHEREARRE

We identified the recognition of expected credit losses
("ECL") on trade receivables as a key audit matter as they
are quantitatively significant to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is involvement of
management judgement and estimates in evaluating the
ECL allowance of the Group's trade receivables at the end
of the reporting period.
BMEEREIERFENTEANEEEE ([EHREE
BEHEDERBRSENZE WHARZEE SEKIA
HaMBmREEMEEHELER TENE &
SRR MERNE HEWHIBE 2 BREEEERER
W REERE 2 FIE R E e

The carrying amount of the Group's trade receivables was
approximately RMB77,394,000 (net of loss allowance of
approximately RMB17,909,000) as at 31 December 2024.
RZZEZWFE+=ZA=+—H BEENEZRKR
TERREEL A AR K77,394,0007T (FIBREEEEHA
R #17,909,0007T ) °

During the year, the Group has provided allowance on ECL
of trade receivables at approximately RMB4,549,000.

FR BEXEREFEBFENEHREEEEGTRER
%) AR #4,549,0007T ©

discussing the Group's policies and procedures
on credit periods given to customers with the
management;

HERERASEAEG TEPEEHMNBUER
PEEI

testing the aging of the trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 to the underlying financial records,
on a sample basis;
BMEARBEE—_E_NFE+_A=+—HEF5E
Wk T8 B B B S S SR O BR AR

evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the external valuer;
SHESNER BRI A B4 - BE DA B

inquiring management for the status of each of
the material trade receivables past due as at 31
December 2024 and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such
as understanding on-going business relationship
with the customers based on trading records,
checking historical settlement records;
MEEERARR_Z_NF+-_A=1+T—HEIE
MAEANE HREBGRIENRE WA HEEREE
EREMNRE fINREBER SR8 T RERT PO
BEBBEGFR RERLEETH:

assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
calculation methodology, adopted by external valuer
by examining the key data inputs on a sample
basis to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking Information, used to
determine the ECL allowance.
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Key Audit Matter
RARERER

Allowance for expected credit loss of the trade receivables (Continued)

WEEKRAEZAEREAZME (&)

For the purpose of performing the assessment of the ECL,
the Directors of the Company engaged an independent
professional valuer to perform a valuation regarding ECL
on trade receivables. The determination of ECL required
significant management judgement to determine the key
assumptions including (i) expected credit loss rates for
each category of trade receivables; (i) aging and overdue
analysis of the trade receivables; (iii) information regarding
the ability and intent of the customers to pay and
historical data on default rates; and (iv) shared credit risk
characteristics of trade receivables groups and market
conditions. The Group calibrates the matrix to adjust the
historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.
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Independent Auditor's Report (Continued)
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Kwok Si Ki.

OOP CPA & Co.
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Si Ki
Practising Certificate Number: P08411

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Z |:|\/

re 18 H it 2 [E W

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—Z-_NFE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN E#5)

A

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=3 AR#®TT AREEFTT
Revenue A 5 409,620 297,530
Cost of sales & A (359,898) (277,352)
Gross profit EF 49,722 20,178
Other income E A 6 30,177 24,775
Other (losses)/gains, net Hi (f518) W #58 7 (22,876) 2,168
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAE (15,257) (14,650)
Administrative expenses TBRAX (37,558) (31,836)
Provision for expected credit l0ss B S EWFIENTEREE
on trade receivables 518 2 Bt 22 (4,549) (1,174)
Finance costs B & PR AR 8 (3,860) (1,359)
Loss before tax BMAIER 9 (4,201) (1,898)
Income tax credit/(expense) FisRiEe, (%) 10 7.184 (466)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREH(HER) 2,983 (2,364)
other comprehensive (expense)/ HEfh2&E (BAxX) &
income, net of tax (MBME)
Item that may be reclassified AJBETE 4 EFT 77
subsequently to profit or l0ss: BamaEE -
Exchange differences on translation MEIGINETS W T Wk
of financial statements of EARERZ5E
foreign operations (1,303) 1,843
Item that will not be reclassified FRETEEFSHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: BamaEE -
Equity investment designated at BERBERAFET AR
fair value through other SHEBEBRAEE
comprehensive income:
— Changes in fair value —NEEE 946 6,817)
- Income tax effect — SN2 (142) 1,023

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)
ReBmMEMmEmRER (@)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T _NF+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2024 2023
—E-ME —E - —F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

g3 AR®FR ARETT

Other comprehensive expense FREM2EMAN
for the year, net of tax (HRMRE) (499) (3,951)

Total comprehensive income/ FERAXEKES (FAX)®H

(expense) for the year 2,484 (6,315)
RMB RMB
AR%®TT AR®ETT
Earnings/(loss) per share FTLAFEERESI/EA
attributable to ordinary EEZzEREF(FHR)
equity holders of the Company 13
Basic N
— Profit/(loss) for the year —FRmEMN, (EE) 0.03 (0.03)
Diluted e
— Profit/(loss) for the year —Frafl, (&) 0.03 (0.03)

hRAEMERERAE 6 /l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

IN=NUR e

At 31 December 2024 R=Z=—F+=-F=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN E#5)

2024 2023
—E_lmE —EC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k23 AR®TT AREFIT
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment Mz WEREE 14 322,941 338,776
Investment properties B 15 29,509 31,222
Non-current deposits for acquisitions WEWE  BERERED
of property, plant and equipment JERNERIR & 16 649 2,665
Other financial assets at fair value AV EFAEMEEYE
through other comprehensive income ZHMEmEE 17 4,324 3,378
Pledged deposits e TR 22 7,476 -
Time deposits TEHFR 23 83,928 160,398
Deferred tax assets BEEFRIEEE 18 3,772 3,193
Total non-current assets ENRBEELRTE 452,599 539,632
Current assets B EE
Inventories rE 79 123,652 115,940
Trade and other receivables = &E@JEHK RIA 20 157,009 113,143
Amount due from a related company gk NCIEN 37 72 69
Other financial assets at fair value b2 Q/NS L[| aH\EﬁﬁT&Z
through profit or loss Hih @B E 17 14,024 15,055
Derivatives financial instruments PTESBMTA 21 - 771
Pledged deposits BTN 22 168,613 77,051
Time deposits TEHRTF K 23 267,659 160,581
Cash and cash equivalents ReLKRSEEY 23 27,200 32,499
Total current assets MB)EERE 758,229 515,109
Current liabilities mEAE R
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMMER A 24 112,779 58,043
Contract liabilities aHAEaRE 26 12,805 7,675
Derivatives financial instruments PTESBMTA 27 - 22
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, FTEIRITIER  BEIA
secured 25 66,400 76,900
Amount due to a director JEft —REEHIE 27 11,614 10,572
Tax payables FERTELIE 3,885 11,987
Total current liabilities e B BB 207,483 165,199
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consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
e AR R (8)

At 31 December 2024 R—ZE-WE+=-F=+—8H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2024 2023
—E_WmE —EC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
ks AE®TR AREFIT
Net current assets mEOEERE 550,746 349,910
Total assets less current HEERTHAR
liabilities 1,003,345 889,542
Non-current liabilities ERBAR
Other payables H b e~ FUR 24 3,610 3,900
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, ETEIRITIE R BEA
secured 25 120,000 10,000
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 18 4,879 3,270
Total non-current liabilities R B ERTE 128,489 17,170
NET ASSETS HERE 874,856 872,372
EQUITY wa
Share capital [N 28(a) 38,462 38,462
Reserves (i) 836,394 833,910
TOTAL EQUITY k= k] 874,856 872,372

AEORINAEZEAVBHREABEFTEN_F
THF=R=1T—BHELIREEM I H A
TALTRERESE:

These consolidated financial statements on pages 60 to 192 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wu Zheyan Xie Qingmei
REE HiAasE
Director Director

o EoEa
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

N}

PR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—Z_NFE+_A=+—RHILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN E#5)

Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange Statutory reserve (non- Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve recycling) profits Total interest equity
NTERR
Bx  ROERE ERGR EERE  (FUHE)  REAN B FREREE HaHRE
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(note 28(@)  (note 280)())  (note 28(0)(i)  (note Z8)(ii)  (note 2800Mv)
(Hiiizse) (Wizizsoh) (Hzso0)) (Hstzson) - (Hiizsem)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-Z%-fA-H 38,462 695,243 31,150 55,107 (892) 60,423 879,493 84 880,377
Changes in equity for 2023: ZECCEHGER:
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (2,364) (2,364) - (2,364)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  ERE 2T/ (XH)
for the year, net of tax (feRE) - - 1,843 - (5,794) - (3951) - (3,951
Total comprehensive income/(expense) A2 @M/ ()
for the year 28 - - 1813 - Gron R3 63 - 631
Disposal of a subsidiary (Vote) LE-RKBAR (M) - - - - - (806) (806) (834) (1,690
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H
1 January 2024 R-2-_mME-R-A 38,462 695,243 32,993 55,107 (6,686) 57,253 872,372 - 872,372
Changes in equity for 2024: ZECmERGRER:
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - 2,983 2,983 - 2,983
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  FREM 2 (i) /K
for the year, net of tax (feR%E) - - (1,309) - 804 - (499) - (499)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  FR2E (F ) /Wi
for the year Ed - - (1,303) - 804 2983 2484 - 2484
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+=B=+-A 38,462 695,243 31,690 55,107 (5,382) 60,236 874,85 - 874,85
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into a disposal — At BE ST -_—_F+_A=+—HILLFE AEEZF]

agreement to close the business of zZhangzhou Xingruixiang Supply Chain
Management Co., Ltd. (“Xingruixiang”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. On 3 November 2023, the disposal has been completed with a gain on
disposal of approximately RMB838,000 (note 7). On the same date, the retained
profits and non-controlling interest amounted to RMB806,000 and RMB884,000,
respectively, were released.

R EHEAERARFFEZEMEAREMN

TR R E

BAEBRAR ([EREE])MER-
RZE_=F+—A=ZH HEETK"

HE W

#) R AR ¥#838,0007T (M 5E7) - IRA B - R (R B
i R FEE R 5 9 B A R #806,0007T &2 A R

884,0007T °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=IAN PNy = —]
SZEeEEeRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZ T _NF+_A=+—HILFE

(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN & E5))

2024 2023
—EmE ZE=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt AR®TT AREEFTT
Operating activities EgEE
Cash generated from operations KEEBRFRS 32 33,501 24,434
Income tax paid B FEH (30) (25)
Net cash from operating activities EZEEZHFRSHR&SH 33,471 24,409
Investing activities BEED
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 88 & %1% « Fi &= M & E (10,495) (1,413)
Deposit paid for acquisition of WEME BELEEZ
property, plant and equipment [EEDEE &R (649) (2,665)
Purchase of other financial asset BEERAFEFSAEMER
at fair value through other Wz Hth e mEE
comprehensive income - (6,250)
Purchases of other financial assets BEERAFEFABGRZ
at fair value through profit or loss Hih&ahEE (14,493) (9,468)
Interest received B F B 7,157 6,091
Placement of pledged deposits FAEBRFR (166,089) (67,051)
withdrawal of pledged deposits IREUE 77 3K 67,051 43,578
Dividend income received B B A 709 727
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BB &EHE
plant and equipment P18 218 210 27
Proceeds from disposal of other HEZRAFEFTABR
financial assets at fair value HEfemEE
through profit or loss FR83A 15,223 15,000
Gross cash outflow from derivative MESBTAEEER
financial instruments Re M B (540) (37,250)
Gross cash inflow from derivative MESMTEELEN
financial instruments BemALRE 205 27,593
Withdrawal of time deposits REUE BifF K 160,581 161,332
Placement of time deposits HFATBFR (191,189) (273,979)
Net cash flows used BRETBFMARERESHE
in investing activities (132,319) (143,728)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash FIowsS (Continued)
SFERERER (B

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—Z-_NFE+_A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (AN E#5)

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
it iF AR®BTR ARBFT
Financing activities MR
Proceeds from new bank borrowings FTILIRITIE KPS FRIA 33 231,900 86,900
Repayments of bank borrowings EEBITEN 33 (132,400) (53,950)
Interest paid BAFIE 33 (3,860) (1,331)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEAaE 33 - 97)
Net cash outflow from disposal of a HE—FMIBARZ
subsidiary Bemib FeE - 413)
Advance from a director REEEHNEX 792 5,692
Net cash from MEITBREREEHE
financing activities 96,432 36,801
Net decrease in cash ReRBReFE/MARLBHE
and cash equivalents (2,416) (82,518)
cash and cash equivalents B—A—HHBE&R
at 1 January ReEEY 32,499 113,914
Effect of foreign exchange EXxSBHTE
rate changes (2,883) 1,103
cash and cash equivalents, B+-A=+—HHR&R
representing bank balance and HReSEEY BRTHRER
cash, at 31 December ne 27,200 32,499

éé China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
rE ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 17 October 2011 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 6 July 2012.
The registered office of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Unit B, 14/F, Eton Building, 288 Des Voeux
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are principally
in (i) manufacturing and sales of wooden products; and (i)
manufacturing and sales of renewable energy products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is different from the Company’s
functional currency of Hong Kong Dollars ("HK$").

—REH
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HI B 2885k F iR E NE141EBE -
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& I RER M 5T (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I - AN REST)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE")

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale

and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the
Ccommittee, including Disclosure of Revenues and Expenses for
Reportable Segments, which is relevant to the Group.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards and the Committee’s agenda
decision in the current year had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current
year and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continueq)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
Year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS
1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or noncurrent, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

o clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer
of cash, goods or services, or the entity's own equity
instruments to the counterparty. If a liability has terms
that could, at the option of the counterparty, result in
its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity
instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument applying IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&% IZﬁL FJ_II_ (mﬁ

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continueq)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
Year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to IAS 1
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments to IAS
1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments"”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specifically clarify that
only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or
before the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is
assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments
also specify that covenants with which an entity must comply
after the reporting date (i.e. future covenants) do not affect
the classification of a liability as current or non-current at the
reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period. This would
include information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that
indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy to the classification
of liability as current or non-current retrospectively. The
application of the amendments in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continueq)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
Year (Continued)

The agenda decision of the Committee - Disclosure of
Revenues and Expenses for Reportable Segments

In July 2024, the Committee published the agenda decision
which analysed how an entity applies the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 8:23 for each reportable segment related
to segment profit or loss. The Committee observed that, (i) an
entity discloses the specified amounts in IFRS 8:23(a)-(i) for
each reportable segment when those amounts are included
in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), even if they are not
separately provided to or reviewed by the CODM, or regularly
provided to the CODM, even if they are not included in the
measure of segment profit or loss; and (i) in applying IFRS
8:23(f) by disclosing, for each reportable segment, material
items of income and expense disclosed in accordance with
IAS 1:97, an entity: a) applies IAS 1.7 and assesses whether
information about an item of income and expense is material
in the context of its financial statements taken as a whole; b)
applies the requirements in 1AS 1:30-31 in considering how to
aggregate information in its financial statements; c) considers
the nature or magnitude of information, or both, in assessing
whether information about an item of income and expense
is material; and d) considers circumstances including, but not
limited to, those in IAS 1:98.

The Committee also observed that as IFRS 8:23(f) does not
require an entity to disclose by reportable segment each item
of income and expense presented in its statement of profit or
loss or disclosed in the notes, an entity should apply judgement
in determining information to disclose for each reportable
segment, considering the core principle of IFRS 8-disclosing
information to enable users of its financial statements to
evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business
activities in which it engages and the economic environments
in which it operates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 &#ER5) AN EREESIR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS"”) AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continuea)
New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to
IFRS Accounting Standards
—Volume 113

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the Directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS"”) AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continuea)
New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to

the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify the recognition and
derecognition for financial asset and financial liability and
add an exception which permits an entity to deem a financial
liability to be discharged before the settlement date if it is
settled in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only
if certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the assessment
of whether the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an entity is being
compensated for rather than the compensation amount.
Contractual cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is not a
basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state that, in some
cases, a contingent feature may give rise to contractual cash
flows that are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
both before and after the change in contractual cash flows, but
the nature of the contingent event itself does not relate directly
to changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore, the
description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and the
characteristics of “contractually linked instruments” are clarified
in the amendments.

The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 in respect of investments
in equity instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are amended. In particular, entities
are required to disclose the fair value gain or loss presented
in other comprehensive income during the period, showing
separately those related to investments derecognised during
the reporting period and those related to investments held at
the end of the reporting period. An entity is also required to
disclose any transfers of the cumulative gain or loss within
equity related to the investments derecognised during the
reporting period. In addition, the amendments introduce
the requirements of qualitative and quantitative disclosure
of contractual terms that could affect the contractual cash
flow based on a contingent even not directly relating to basic
lending risks and cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 &#ER5) AN EREESIR)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS") AND AGENDA
DECISIONS OF THE IFRS INTERPRETATIONS
COMMITTEE (THE “"COMMITTEE") (continueq)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendments to
the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments (Continuead)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with early application
permitted. The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new IFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the
financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are
also made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit
or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS
18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

(@)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the IASB. For the purpose of preparation of
the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 &#ER5) AN EREESIR)

financial statements (continuea)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS
36 Impairment of AsSséets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
are to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZAREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation of the consolidated @ FREMBHEREBEEE &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MEMBBRZAREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBERER 2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Basis of preparation of the consolidated @ FREMBHRERBEEE &)

financial statements (continuea)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
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or liability. BER A B g A2k o
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGETBEREHR
Basis of consolidation mER%E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from

its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
NF ﬁﬁ%$ﬁ%§ﬁﬁﬂ£(ﬁg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMENBBRZIGHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBERER (2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (#)
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) mEEE(F)

i =8 MR R BN - £ XA F =@

EHIER D HP —IRAZHERE
#F AAREBEERFHEILTESG
BREHR-

MEBAR e ABRRAEEEREG
BERMBARZE#ERS I
RAEEREB IR R E 2
RBREIE-BRME  REAMKE
FEEMBRRAZKRARIETIB
AEREBSEHE 2 BEFAKE
BERhEME2ERGER BEEAE
B HEGBEREMBAR CEAL-

BERFEEME RS AR D
FERARAHEE A NSRS -
MBARz2HANEARRBRA
NEBEE ANEER R B E
RSB R R HIRE A AR o

WERE HEHMBRARZHTBR
REFELARE AEESFRRER
SEZEFBE B

MERAEERERFAMZRSH
MeESBERNEEREBE #xE W
ARAXEBEREINEZARE
B A BN 3H o

YN Dl e g e YN L
REFHNERDHEY IEREFHE
BZRE=EETHREAEFRER
Rt AR RRANB A RIFEE

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)
(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets FEeREERE
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual WEDRBE LR RE FE#
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than TEFEE (TREFE REHIA
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), EEReREE)REAS BaH
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s FTEEZAKREI SR - B & EA
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash- WEIEBE 2 ERENEERE
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs EEBU2EABEREANTER
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, HEKARMEZERERE - WE
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that ERGEEERKNEE LB IR EA
are largely independent of those from other assets or BEXEAEMAGCRERA  ELL
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount BRATRIECTEEMBRESELS
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which frzafEgE - TARREESL
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit $1_LE’J/WEH* CRAEE (PlangE
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a AN OEREBEE D ELAE
corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated AR eEABEMN (MRALLEIEM
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated —HHWEBRSERE) HE UE
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the AR PiksRINREELE
smallest group of cash-generating units. (vEERIR
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying BEEBEEEITEEERONEBRE
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In AU B B RE R T ERE R o TR R AA (E
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows REAR HtRRReTEGMU
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax AIRMBEMSHEESHEERNL
discount rate that reflects current market assessments ZAENARRT G 2B AT X
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the THRERBE - REBEBERELSRH
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated NEGEERRNEDEHEEED
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises B8 — Bz S BRI A HIBR o

in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/T\

& I RER M 5T (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist
or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment 10ss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers EFAWE (&)

(Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is THIEERBHER MWEEAT

recognised over time by reference to the progress Hep—18%E8) Al D2 R T K

towards complete satisfaction of the relevant TE A B 40 & T A3 B 1B N M BE R

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is R

met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and . BEEAREEEL &P RER
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's BUFERAEEEOMERD
performance as the Group performs; Fla

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances . AEERBLOBIES B —IA
an asset that the customer controls as the Group RAREE BB R E AT
performs; or BEE: 3K

e the Group's performance does not create an . REEMBAOWAREEHRE
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the BEEERAgHEE BEXE
Group has an enforceable right to payment for BEH iS5 ETRELANFRIER
performance completed to date. BRATEAITHIRER -

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when GR KRR EFPRSEREE R

the customer obtains control of the distinct good or Al 75 2 122 1) 42 1) By PR B R SR o

service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation EHNEEEAEEREDME P W

to transfer goods or services to a customer for which RAE (KB B W EKRAE) - Alm

the Group has received consideration (or an amount of EPEEERCEE-

consideration is due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

0

Sale of goods

The principal activities of the Group are
manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden
products, retail sales of outdoor wooden products
(discontinued during the year) and manufacturing
and sales of renewable energy products.

The Group's revenue is derived from selling
goods with revenue recognised at a point in time
when control of the goods has transferred to
the customer. This is generally when the goods
are delivered to the customer. There is limited
judgement needed in identifying the point control
passes: once physical delivery of the products to
the agreed location has occurred, the Group no
longer has physical possession, usually will have a
present right to payment (as a single payment on
delivery) and retains none of the significant risks
and rewards of the goods in question. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices
are usually payable within 90 —180 days.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
T A ISR R EE (8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( B EEETIN  UAREST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from other sources

(ii)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the
shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/T\

& I RER M 5T (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continuea)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continuea)
Foreign currencies (Continuead)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in HK$ to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&i‘% IZﬁL FI_II_ (,.\g

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

(Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (#)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HAEVBBRRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continuea)
Government grants (Continueqd)

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
revenue”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees and a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government for the
employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Mainland China are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

B 5 ERR N & (a)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
T A ISR R EE (8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) ( B EEETIN  UAREST)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBERER 2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) B\ (&)

EERBEENRAERERS
HRGETUNES  WHIRETA
EEBA R MERTS M A @ 2
XA EERL-

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the RLERBEELRBGBZEEAE
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in NEREEMNPMABBRERZ
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based FE BERSHRE AR ER

on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the

BEAMMTE (RBR)FTHE -

ERERAEBEREEZFERR
WIRAEEMEHT AN RE B
RREKREFEEERABRE

reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount BEHHBEHBER:
of its assets and liabilities.
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing R ERNEEBATAEEER

transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMENBBRZIGHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFTBERER (2)
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (#)
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued) BE (&)

AREMERAEEERENEE
Ry AEEHEERERERE
EDRIERBER G ERE125%
FRTE © fird PJ BE JE 15 B SR A i ) 4K
AR EE AKEREER

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies I1AS
12 requirements to lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset
related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable

that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/T\

& I RER M 5T (@)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation (including properties
under construction for such purposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of investment properties over the shorter of (i) the
unexpired term of lease; and (i) their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 20 years after the date
of completion and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under construction are capitalised as part of the carrying
amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

B 5 ERR N & (a)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERGHBEER (&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

J the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R MR (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset (Continued)

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at
FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

B 5 ERR N & (a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continuead)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
asset (Continued)

(if)

(ii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will
continue to be held in the fair value reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other revenue” line
item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains,
net” line item.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) EXRSEHBEEER (&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, other financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
derivatives financial instruments, time deposits, pledged
deposits and cash and cash equivalents), which are
subject to impairment assessment under IFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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B 5 ERR N & (a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I - AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the 10ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

() Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(0)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

B 5 ERR N & (a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(0)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GEVBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(£E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment AR BIBR B 7 3R 5 E R o5
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued) TREN N EERE (&)
@iy  Credit-impaired financial assets @iy EEREzseBREE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or TRMEEL —HkEZHhEH
more events that have a detrimental impact on the (HZeBmEEMTTRRR
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset EMEBK NN FE)ELE
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is BHREERBE cRMEE
credit-impaired includes observable data about the HREERENZEEREAR
following events: B8 LA T E 89 AT B B EUR -

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or @@ BITANERALRE
the borrower; PNEATE

() a breach of contract, such as a default or past (b)) EBH wmiERKEEHE
due event; "

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or © BRANERAEEBH
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s & A IR B R IR 2
financial difficulty, having granted to the BYAE T S A #) 1R B T )
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) ERARLHERALEE
would not otherwise consider; IER T TEEENE

=,

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower d) fEBFRARREMESNETT
will enter bankruptcy or other financial HinBr s sk

reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for € BRUBRE Z2R
that financial asset because of financial BERGERMSHELK-
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

B 5 ERR N & (a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liguidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in
the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or 10ss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient
in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant
credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HEMBBRZEREERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information b)) BEXRGITHEER (&)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) £RIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Derecognition of financial assets RIFEREREE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the fair value reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, and will continue to be held in the fair value
reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e R R MR (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which IFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

REVBBRR2EHREERE

RETHEER (2
b)) EREFBERER (£)

SRMIA(£E)

THEEREZ (&)
EAFEFABEZZEBAEG
(%)
BReEExsHPRELT AR S
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EAFEFABENESRAEE
8.

e  MIEFEERIBERLE
Alg BRI E R ER T —
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s ZETRMBEBK—MHTRE
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o mRASBEEA M AR
EBRIRERBEUARNTER
HIETEEMFHERRAE
BRZHENEERELE
B ERERM 3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
I\\/T\ ﬁﬂvq% i&i‘% IZﬁL FI_II_ (,.\g

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of changes in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, the changes in fair value of the embedded
derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income. Changes
in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss;
instead, they are transferred to retained profits upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
debentures, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HMEMBBRZEREERE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS REFBERER (9

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Material accounting policy information b)) ERXGEHBERER (#)
(Continuea)
Financial instruments (Continuea) EWMIA (&)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) THEERERZ (&)

EATFEFAEEZ2RAE
(&)
HREERNUR ?@ﬁgﬂﬁ rrrrrr
it AEmNemeE BZAaR
WEEHA%@atmﬁﬂg%
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E/éﬁﬂg{iﬁﬁmzﬁ/\q& EPE)H.:.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MENBBRZGEHEERE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS RETHEER (2
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Material accounting policy information (b)) ERGEHBERER (&)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or 10ss
is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

SRMIA(£E)

Pt E T A
PMTAETAEVBRRITETIARGRE
FIEMATEETER WERSE
HRIEE AT EETEESE A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
nﬂ‘ ;ﬁﬁ%i&%§Mﬁﬂffm§

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Key source of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumption concerning the future,
and other key source of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The impairment loss on trade receivables are measured using
ECL model on collective and individual basis which requires the
Group to use judgement and estimates in making assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the ECL model, based on the
number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding as
well as their current repayment ability, and taking into account
information obtained from external valuer specific to respective
customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the debtors operate at the end of the reporting period.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to
make additional loss allowance for impairment loss on trade
receivables.

At 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the trade
receivable was approximately RMB77,394,000 (2023:
RMBA48,821,000). During the year ended 31 December 2024,
a provision of impairment loss on trade receivables of
approximately RMB4,549,000 (2023: RMB1,174,000) has been
recognised.

The information about the ECL and the Group's trade
receivables are disclosed in note 20 and 37(b)(a), respectively.

B ET NIRRT

RS2 (A AT T B EA &= R

TH AR R E R E MR R E ERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARDEZH
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ BFa#Wkam
The principal activities of the Group are (i) the AEENETEEBROEENRES
manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden products; FPORE R RIVEERBEBRE
and (i) manufacturing and sales of renewable energy BEIREE M
products.
Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope OB B B 7 S S R R 22155k S Bl
of IFRS 15 is as follows: MEFPEHREDT
2024 2023
—E-_ME —EC=F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTIT

Sales of outdoor wooden products HE P INRELR 407,382 295,084
Sales of renewable energy products HEBERERER 2,238 2,446
409,620 297,530

hRAEMERERAE /l 13

B EER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARDSE2HK 2)
(Continuea)
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ BFP&#WKE
(Continuea)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with ()  FKEEFEA N FIEE
customers #
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by TRIEZZTEWEMSE TB2E
primary geographical markets, major products and oo R A TR I e 3 BRI ©

timing of revenue recognition.

2024
“E-pE

Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of

and sales of renewable
wooden Energy
products products Total
5ER SERHE
HEXREAG BEiFES &t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR PN:1 & AR®TR
Primary geographical FTEEHH
markets*
The People’s Republic of China REARLRE ([FE])

(the "PRC") (place of domicile) (fEFTi) 59,460 2,238 61,698
Australasia SBAR A 281,188 - 281,188
North America EEM 25,839 - 25,839
Europe B 29,103 - 29,103
Asia Pacific (exclusive of the PRC) 2 K& (TEIHEFH) 11,792 - 11,792

407,382 2,238 409,620
Major products TEER
Wooden products REM 407,382 - 407,382
Renewable energy products BERRER - 2,238 2,238
407,382 2,238 409,620
Timing of revenue e A B REEF R

recognition
At a point in time H AR 407,382 2,238 409,620
* The geographical location of customers is based on the * EFPHMEME DERZINE

location at which the goods were delivered. VIR E T E ©

1 /I 4 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR &)
(Continued)
(@) Revenue from contracts with customers @ EFPEAHWE
(Continued)
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with ()  KEEFEA N HIE
customers (Continuea) (&)
2023
—E-=F
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden Energy
products products Total
EER EEREE
HEARZ R BERRESR =
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARBETT ARET T

Primary geographical FEME TR
markets*
The PRC (place of domicile) ':P B (fEpTih) 47179 2,446 49,625
Australasia SBA R A 213,193 - 213,193
North America it%?ﬂ‘H 3,962 - 3,962
Europe BUM 20,908 - 20,908
Asia Pacific (exclusive of the PRC) 2 K& (TBIEFH) 9,842 - 9,842
295,084 2,446 297,530
Major products TEER
Wooden products REM 295,084 - 295,084
Renewable energy products BAERER - 2,446 2,446
295,084 2,446 297,530
Timing of revenue e A BE 2 RF R
recognition
At a point in time F A2 295,084 2,446 297,530
* The geographical location of customers is based on the * BEPZMWEMERERNER
location at which the goods were delivered. FRAEGLE ME °

FRIAEYIZERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\ ﬂL ﬂz% i& i% IZﬁL FI_II_ (mg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continuead)

(@) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contract with

customers

Information about the Group's performance

obligations is summarised below:

Sales of outdoor wooden products and sales of

renewable energy products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the outdoor wooden products and
renewable energy products. The payment is
generally due within 90-180 days from delivery.
Payment in advance is normally required from its

customers.

(i) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with

customers

The contract liabilities from manufacturing and
sales of wooden products mainly relate to receipt
in advance from customers for goods that have not
yet been transferred to the customers. Included
in the contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023
of RMB7,523,000 has been recognised as revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB9,883,000) due to the fulfilment of orders
received before 31 December 2023.

BEF AR

(ii)

(i)

WARDEHE2HR &)

EFAHENER

BRAEERHNEENERM
LU N

HEFPIARBRHEBE
BETRE o

BHEERZNPIKRER K
BARREMBEET A
— RN A FH90-180K A F|
- BP—RABENR

PEEEFEFFIFERNZE
Ba)R 581

RERERBEERERZAR
BEZERKMEL MK
ERREPNEY 2 BUK -
HRBITR -_ZE-_=F+=
A=+—BzrikEmETE .
RZZ—_=F+=-A=+—H
PEEENABERNARE
7,523,000 E R ABE T
ZHFE+ZA=+T—HILFE
WA (ZEZ=F: ARK
9,883,0007%,) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

.
AR e

B 5 g 2% B FE ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

@)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations under the Group’s existing
contracts is RMB12,805,000 (2023: RMB7,675,000).
This amount represents revenue expected to be
recognised in the future from completed purchase
orders from customers. The Group will recognise
the expected revenue in future when or as the
goods is transferred to customers, which is
expected to occur in the next 12 months.

(b) Segment reporting

In a manner consistent with how the Group managed
its business and the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’ s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified two
reportable segments, namely (i) manufacturing and sales
of wooden products and (i) manufacturing and sales of
renewable energy products.

Manufacturing and sales of wooden products:
manufacturing and sales of outdoor wooden
products to both domestic and overseas
customers, and trading of timber.

Manufacturing and sales of renewable energy
products: manufacturing and sales of biomass
pellet fuel to both domestic and overseas
customers.

5.

WARDEHE2H 2

@

BEF AR

(i) PDBEEFEFIFGENE
B ZE (&)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Nm

B 5 ERR N & (a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continuead)

(b) Segment reporting (continued)

)

Segment revenue and results

For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive
management monitors the results attributable to
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Reportable segment revenue represents the
revenue derived from the Group's external
customers by manufacturing and sales of
wooden products and manufacturing and sales of
renewable energy products, respectively.

The measure used for reportable segment profit/
(loss) is “profit/(loss) for the year (excluding the
after tax effect of government subsidies)” of
manufacturing and sales of wooden products and
manufacturing and sales of renewable energy
products, respectively.

Segment assets exclude other financial assets,
deferred tax assets, derivative financial instruments,
pledged deposits, time deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative financial
instruments, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

5.

WARDEEH 2)
b) DEWE2FR (&)
(i) DBUAREE

RFHE D BRI BN E 2 5B
DEER AEESRERRE
BETIEEERREEAZR
DEBEVEAE

A 2HD BBRADRIEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR #)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEZFR )
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) DBRARESR (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue AT BIRAI 2Wm D EBEAE
and results by reportable segments: WA RFEER DT
2024
—E-@mE
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
EER
EER HEEBE
HEARSR RRER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBTT ARBTR
Revenue derived from the Group's RERERINIEPHMA
external customers 407,382 2,238 409,620
Inter-segment revenue A EERA 2,623 1,465 4,088
Reportable segment revenue AERFBKA 410,005 3,703 413,708
Reportable segment profit for the year ERAZHH T (BE),H5F
(excluding government subsidies, net of tax)) (TREBRREELREYE) 4,132 174 4,306
Government subsidies, net of tax TUFTHEEL (FiR) 423
Unallocated other income RABEEMBA 2,933
Unallocated corporate expenses AOEEERT (4,679)
Profit for the year FRiad 2,983

hRAEMERERAE /l 19
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 &#ER5) AN EREESIR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. KARDSE2HK 2)
(Continuea)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEBZFR &)
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) SBBARESE(E)
2023
o fF
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
EER
KER HERLE
HEREM RRER s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETL ARETT ARETL

Revenue derived from the Group's REAEBMNIEEHMRA

external customers 295,084 2,446 297,530
Inter-segment revenue HEREBA 3,826 2,857 6,683
Reportable segment revenue A2HRBKA 298910 5,303 304,213

Reportable segment (loss)/profit for the year ENA2HH T (FB),HH

(excluding government subsidies, net of tax)) (TREBRRELREYE) (6,120) 1,066 (5,054)
Government subsidies, net of tax TRFTHEEL (FiiR) 3966
Depreciation charge on leased properties BEMEINE 61)
Unallocated other income RPBEEMBA 487
Unallocated finance cost RO BREKK (28)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOEEERT (1,674)
Loss for the year FABR (2,364)

1 20 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR #)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEZFR )
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) IBRARESE(E)
2024
—Z-mE
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
EER
EER HERE
HEXRA HRER it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®TR ARBTR AR®TTR
Depreciation charge on property, nE BERREINE
plant and equipment (26,857) (427) (27,284)
Depreciation charge on land use rights BERFREEEL
included in right-of-use assets THEREHE (1,505) - (1,505)
Depreciation charge on investment properties REMEZIFE (1,713) - (1,713)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments TEeBRIANTERE (1,084) - (1,084)
Fair value gain on other financial assets Hit e BEAEATERE 164 - 164
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (HEME « BE k2 Wm 4 - 4
2023
—Eo=F
Manufacturing
Manufacturing and sales of
and sales of renewable
wooden energy
products products Total
KER
KER HERE
HERHER R RE R w5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFT AREFT
Depreciation charge on property, nE BERREINE
plant and equipment (29,247) (507) (29,754)
Depreciation charge on land use rights BERERREEL
included in right-of-use assets THERECHE (1,566) - (1,566)
Depreciation charge on investment properties BENEITE (1,714) = (1,714)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments TEERIAATESE (8,932) - (8.932)
Fair value gain on other financial assets HinepEE A TERE 548 - 548
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HENE BERREZFE (30) = (30)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR 2 W 838 - 838
PRMEYIERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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& I RER M 5T (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

5. WARDEEHR &)

(Continuea)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) ) DEBZFR &)
(i) Segment assets and liabilities (i) oHBEEREE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Segment assets SHMEE
Manufacturing and sales of FEREERR
wooden products 642,359 613,084
Manufacturing and sales of HERIEEBAERERE D
renewable energy products 220 838
Total reportable segment WA 2N BEE
assets 642,579 613,922
Corporate and other unallocated ~— ¥ REMKDEEEE
assets 568,249 440,819
Total assets HEENS 1,210,828 1,054,741
Segment liabilities SHAR
Manufacturing and sales of FERIEEARE R
wooden products 139,480 78,879
Manufacturing and sales of FERBEBERRESD
renewable energy products 352 338
Total reportable segment B 2ERoMERE
liabilities 139,832 79,217
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ENEM RS EEE
assets 196,140 103,152
Total liabilities BEAE 335,972 182,369
(iii) Geographical information (i) iHER
Non-current assets FEREE B
Over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets REE B IB0%R IEREEE

AP B o [ - I A R BR 3E
TRENE B HHE — DI B R o

are located in the PRC. Accordingly, no further
geographical information of non-current assets
were disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5. WARDEEHR #)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (continued) b)) DE=ZHm#)

(iv) Information about major customers (ivy BERETEEFNESR
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of EPWAERBRAKALE
the total revenue who are from the manufacturing 0% REEEKREEFPINK
and sales of outdoor wooden products, are as Rl AT
follows:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARBTIT

Customer A BFH 40,919 44,831
Customer B BFEZ 98,335 62,390
Customer C BEFRA 69,954 45,358
Customer D EPT 55,855 N/ATS 38 FA *
265,063 152,579

* The corresponding customer did not contribute more than * HEEFR EFRLETREB

10% of the total revenue of the Group in previous year. BANER B A AR EE10% ©
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HAflgA

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARBTIT

Interest income on bank deposits IRITF A BUA 22,524 16,194
Government subsidies (Note (}) BT RL (A7aE0)) 423 3,966
Dividend income from the equity BERERAFEEA
investment designated as fair value Hipr2mEles 2 RARE
through other comprehensive &S WA (KiaE17)
income (note 17) 709 727
Rental income A A 1,970 2,057
Receipt of liquidated damages (Note (i) W 4% (HIEEG)) 2,528 4
Others Hh 2,023 1,831
30,177 24,775
RREMERERA T

B EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

& I RER M 5T (@)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

6. OTHER INCOME (continued) 6.

Notes.

The Group received unconditional government subsidies of RMB423,000
(2023: RMB3,966,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024 in respect
of its normal operating activities. There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attaching to these government grants.

ii. During the year ended 31 December 2024, liquidated damages amounted
t0 RMB2,528,000 as a result of breach of rental agreement by a leasee

HMWA &)

REBEE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—HIEFE &
S B BEH I 8 R B UREVE IR R IR AT A AR A
R #423,0007T (=T = = : A R¥3,966,000
T) o ZEBUT AN EAm R A F
Ho

i. BE_F-_MOFT-_A=t—HLEFE B—-
FEAERBEBHEMEBNEOEHARE

was received. 2,528,0007T
7. OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 7. Hib (BB WEEE
2024 2023
o1 | 2 T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT AREFTT
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain FEN (F18) WL F5E (21,822) 10,296
Fair value loss on derivative financial MESRIANTE
instruments &5 18 (1,084) (8,932)
Fair value gain on other financial assets EmemEENFERE 164 548
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, HEME BEMEEZ
plant and equipment Wz (BE) 4 (30)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKB ARz W - 838
Others Hb (138) (552)
(22,876) 2,168
FINANCE COSTS 8. ®EMK
2024 2023
—EmE ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERFBAX 3,860 1,331
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBENF ERX - 28
3,860 1,359
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e ISR R M ET (8)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

9. LOS

LosS

S BEFORE TAX
before taxation has been arrived at after charging

(crediting):

(@)

Staff costs (exclude directors’

9.

BRBLATE 1B
BEBATBREIMB GIA) T EHER

Ik

@

EIXRAR(TBRESH

remuneration) )
2024 2023
—E-—ME —E - —4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFIT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IEKRHEMBET 26,212 17,979

Contributions to defined contribution TE R FGR IRET &I 3K

retirement schemes 3,193 1,713
29,405 19,692

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations
in the PRC, the Group's entities in the PRC participate
in defined contribution retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes”) organised by the local authorities
whereby the entities are required to make contributions
to the Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. Contributions to the Schemes vest
immediately. Under the Schemes, retirement benefits
of existing and retired employees are payable by the
relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual contributions.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group had no forfeited contributions under its retirement
benefit scheme in the PRC and under the MPF Scheme
in Hong Kong which may be used to reduce the existing
level of contributions as described in paragraph 26(2)
of Appendix 16 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.

R B A B8 A Bk B RROAAR
REBURPENEEZ ML
ERENNTHEARIENRENTE
([#Z&t8)) B - sHEEEAR
HE-_Z-_NFR-ZZT-_=F+=
A=+ HIEFERAEREEY
B —E B D LL R AT SIE L 45K o
HZATEMEH M ERBNEEE R
BEEEE BBERRRKEENHR
KEFBHBETEE BB
BREEERZIN AEERE—FE
Fo

BHEZ-HNFR-ZFT-=F+=
A=+—BUHtFE AEBEFEH
FRKEMTEMEENRTESE
BT I 4 B OR WA R 3R AT A RVR
DR R BT EE F £ AR BT 821658
26 BTl B ER 5 K T o

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)
(b) Other items

9.

MRBIAIEE 2
(b)) HMIAHE
2024 2023
—ElmE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETIT

Depreciation charge (note 14) W& (fat14)
— Owned property, plant and —BEME FHEMEE
equipment 27,284 29,754
- Right-of-use assets: —EREAE:
- Land use rights — b fE A 1,505 1,505
— Leased properties —HEWE - 61
— Investment properties (note 15) —EWE (HiE15) 1,713 1,714
Total depreciation charge 4T 30,502 33,034
Cost of inventories recognised as HRAERAT ZHFERAR
expenses (note) (K1a2) 359,898 277,352
Research and development costs IR DN 10,635 8,086
Auditors’ remuneration ZEGEN B & 519 757

Note: Cost of inventories includes RMB37,138,000 (2023: RMB32,981,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2024 relating to staff costs and
depreciation, which amount is also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed separately above or in note 9(a) for each of

these types of expenses.

Hat -

BE_T-_NWF+-_A=1+—HItFE"

5&$@%/\E’ﬁ53713800071(7§
= AR32,981,0007T) K E T
RARNE BRSBEITEI AR EX
SR BRZ SR X EBREN
BEEA-

China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FA8H (E&R) BxX
(@) Taxation represents: @ MiIEE:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

Current tax BRI IR
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEM - 361
PRC Corporate Income Tax ("PRC CIT")  FEIMEFEHR ([HEM%E
Frig®il) 2 31

Australian Corporate Income Tax SN ETER (DRI 2

("“Australian CIT") Frig®il) 773 -
Oover-provision in respect of BEFEBERMF

prior years
PRC CIT PRI MG (8,847) 31
Deferred tax expense BIERIARMX
Charged for the year (note 18) FAHBR (WiE18) 888 74
Income tax (credit)/expense Frsfi (%) Fx (7,184) 466

hRAEMERERAE /l 27
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRB% (E&R) BX (@2

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/ b HEAMEFTENAER
expense and loss before tax at applicable (E5R) HZERBAE
tax rates: B
2024 2023
—E_lmE ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETTT

Loss before tax PR AT & 18 (4,201) (1,898)
Tax at the statutory rate of 25% HOETE M E25%:T 8 2 18 (1,050) (475)
Tax concession (notes (i), (iv) & (v)) M EE (W20 (MEWV)) (152) (1,614)
Tax effect of income non-taxable BARMB AN K2

for tax purpose (108) (207)
Tax effect of expenses non-deductible  FEF0E S Hi 89 5 75 52 28

for tax purpose 1,410 1,147
Tax effect of bonus deduction for T 32 5 2 B R &Y

research and development expenses — Fii§ /& (1,595) (1,213)
Tax effect of deductible temporary AEINEREEEN

difference Mg E (294) (830)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  FiER 2 FIBE B

W E 2,965 3,916

Effect of different tax rates of TEHEMEEERERLEN

subsidiaries operating in B 88 R B[R B R A

other jurisdictions TE 508 (182)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEEE (8,847) -
Others Efh (21) (26)
Income tax (credit)/expense FARER (Ex) HAX

for the year (7,184) 466

1 28 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued)
Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/
expense and loss before tax at applicable
tax rates: (continued)

(0)

Notes:

Vi,

No provision was made for Hong Kong Profits Tax as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2024. Provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax has been made for the year ended 31 December 2023
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC CIT at the
statutory rate of 25% unless otherwise specified.

Fujian Zhangping Kimura Forestry Products Co., Ltd (“Zhangping
Kimura”) applied and was approved for the High and New
Technology Entities (“HNTE") qualification under the PRC Corporate
Income Tax Law and its relevant regulations during 2019, and
therefore is entitled to the preferential income tax rate of 15% for
a period of six years from 2019 to 2024.

According to the announcement of the State Administration of
Taxation on Issues Relating to Implementation of Inclusive Income
Tax Relief Policy for Small Low-profit Enterprises, the PRC CIT
rate applicable to small-scale enterprises with law profitability
that meet certain conditions including the assessable profits not
more than RMB3,000,000, shall be reduced to 20%. Two of the
Company’s subsidiaries (2023: two) have been designated as
small-scale enterprises, pursuant to which, the first RMB3,000,000
of assessable profits (the “1st Assessable Profits”) of these
subsidiaries are effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% on 25% of the
1st Assessable Profits).

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its relevant
regulations, dividends receivable by non-PRC resident corporate
investors from PRC resident enterprises are subject to withholding
income tax at 10% unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for profits earned since 1 January 2008.

Since the Group can control the quantum and timing of
distribution of profits of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC,
deferred tax liabilities are only recognised to the extent that
such profits are expected to be distributed through dividend
payment by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to
overseas holding company amounted to RMB233,788,000 (2023:
RMB225,380,000) and the corresponding deferred tax liabilities of
RMB23,378,800 (2023: RMB22,538,000) have not been recognised.

The Group's Australian subsidiary is subject to Australian CIT at the
statutory rate of 30%.

10. FRf ﬁ(?&ﬁ)/?#is‘z(fg)
(b) = E A =E ””E’Jﬁfr G
(&%) /Fa'ﬂi B 75 BT &S
SrEER - (8)

Wiz

HRAEBEREBEE_ZT_NE+ -4
=t BUHFEVEAEBELTMARE
RRRA B ESHER BN S S
HE_Z_=F+-_A=+—BLLFE
RIEFEB MR EHR BB TS RRHE
AEREEERNE2EBETE B
128.25% M R H A - KB iB2E BB TH
i F 8 4216.5% R B R AT o

i. [ Y o B [ B 1 ) R HR25%)E TE
FHMHBEDEMSH SHEEAER
Hho

ii. BREAREVTANMEBRAR (DEF
AR DBER-ZZE-NFREFEPERR
BEAREABERRFLESRIK
i ([BFMEMEE]) HREBER
HR - NFE-_T-NFXEFE
HEBEZARNEERSHRE -

V. Rig KERRBE LR E /B F
EEEFEMSHREBEE BREED
RE) FHEETHRE (BERERBE
F T8 A R #3,000,0007T) 2 2 7/
NBIEZ/ \”‘Jﬁ%mﬁﬁzﬁfllm%ﬁﬁﬁ
ﬁf)‘é"%%lz E20% o AR A A H o il i B

RE(ZE==%F: WFE?)EZ%? ER
J\’*” XoBu ZEMEAREAR
*#3,000,0007T Z FE R ) ([ E#LERR
T8 M) | ) 2 B B AR 35% (B 4225% & #t
JE AR5 1) 2 20% ) A5t -

V., RIBEHBEDEREHEREARBER
FPRERMEREENTEEREX
RE-ZFZRNF—A— BEREA ST
B FE AR BB IR 10% 0 Bt R U TR A -
MBS AR PHEH IR R RIS R

P PO N 52 [ AJ A2 1) 7 £ (B 75 o B 9 Bl
BRANBDENSRNERE Hi(E
ERBAEENTENBARENRR
RIREBRE XN D BRFEMATRT
BRECHAAB R _F_WF+=
R=+—H @XEE+HHERRR
DEMNEEEIMNERARBENTEE
ERARM233,788,0007C (Z T = =4
A R #:225,380,0007T ) Ko A8 IR AE A TR
B1EARMK23378800C (ZE =4
AR #£22,538,0007T ) AR HFERR ©

vi. 2N 18] B9 R M S B 2 R) 78 1R30% Y V5 TE
Tt R M b R FTSR

PRMEYIERERAE
ZECPNGFFR
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10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRB% (E&R) BX (@2

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/ b)) ZRERABEFENMRER
expense and loss before tax at applicable (E5R) HZERBAE
tax rates: continued) BWEER: (@)

Vii. Over-provision of PRC CIT amounted to RMB8,847,000 being the Vi, HBERABTRCEMGHAARK
reversal of over-provided tax payable in prior year which passed 8,847,0007T - BN 01 2 38 B W H ) L4
the look-back period. EREREREMARIE

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 1. EEHM

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section 383(1) B E B A FE G E383(1)8 2 A A (?Ji

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the BREENEER) RO E2FHERT E

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EEHMT

Directors) Regulation is as follows:

2024
—E-mE
salaries,
allowances Retirement share
Directors' and benefits Discretionary  scheme award
fees inkind  bonuses contributions  scheme Total
P RER
EFfg ENnfg BBl EWtBfs RPRBHD it

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AE®RTR ARBTRT ARWTT ARRTR AE®TR ARWTR

Executive directors BiTER

Wu Zheyan REE 360 1,038 - 48 - 1,446

Xie Qingmel HEF 1M - - - - 1M1
471 1,038 = 43 = 1,557

Independent non-executive  BIFHTEE

directors

Prof. Jin Zhongwei (note (3) EBYR (W) - - - - - -

Prof. Su Wengiang (ot (3)) BIGBHR (W) - - - - - -

Tse Kwok Hing Henry HEH 88 - - - - 88

Zheng Bingajian (note () ik () 36 - - - - 36

Wu Liping (note (b)) RER (B#0) 37 - - - - 37
161 - - - - 161
632 1,038 - 48 - 1,718

Note (@): Resigned on 29 July 2024 Mit@: RZZB-_WELA-THhRAEE

Note (b).  Appointed on 29 July 2024 Ham) - RZTZNF+LAZ+hBEZEE
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11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 1. E2FM»)
2023
—EC=F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Share
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme award
fees inkind bonuses  contributions scheme Total
He 2HR
BN R BT BAGEER  ROKEHE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT  ARETT AR%TR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR

Executive directors BITES

Wu Zheyan REE 360 1,152 - 3 - 1515

Xie Qingmel Bl 67 - - - - 67
427 1,152 - 3 - 1,582

Independent non-executive  JIAFHBTEF

directors

Prof. Jin Zhongwei TEAYR % - - - - 9%

Prof. SU Wengiang BB % - - - - 9%

Tse Kwok Hing Henry HEE 86 - - - - 8
282 - - - - 282
709 1,152 - 3 - 1,864

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no amounts paid or payable by the Group to the Directors
or any of the highest paid individuals set out in note 12 below
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. There was no arrangement
under which a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

REBEZEZZ_WNER_FTE_=F+_54
=t+—RUEFE AEEBERESHT
SCP EE12F7 S 8 ol S = 3 A £ 2 5k
JERAERRIE  ERRSI MBS MBEAER
IR MBAEBEZH RS RIERBER
B-REEZE_ZE_NFR-ZT_=F+=
A=+—RLFE EEMERBIMNE
BRI E sk R B R E A EH A -

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 12.
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, there were
one (2023: one) director for the year ended 31 December 2024,
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of
emoluments in respect of the other four (2023: four) individuals

REHMA L

HE_Z-_NWF+_A=1+—

FREHFMALH  —H(

AIEFE
R

—HB)RER WENFHMNMEIIRE -
HTIOE (ZF_=F:108) AL HH

are as follows: WEIT
2024 2023
—ElE TEC=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR AREFIT
Salaries and other emoluments o K& H b 3,109 1,328
Discretionary bonuses B IEIEAL 529 -
Equity-settled share award scheme expenses A& 8 &5 & &) B 17 22 Ep
FHEIFA X - -
Retirement scheme contributions RIRGETEIEFR 40 -
3,678 1,328
The emoluments of the four individuals (2023: four individuals) NE(ZE=F :NOZ) e FHlALTH
with the highest emoluments are within the following bands: HFEN T TIER :
2024 2023
—E_lE —E-=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 N
Nil to RMB1,000,000 Tz A R%1,000,0007T 2 4
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AR #1,000,0017tE
AR #1,500,0007T 1 -
RMB1,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 A R#1,500,001C 2
A R #53,000,0007T 1 -
4 4
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. EREF, (E#E)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per AAFIHAEANEBEEREAREER
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the M/ (BB MTEERLTEE:
following data:
2024 2023
—E-_MEFE —E =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARBFT
Earnings/(loss) BF(6B8)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to HEAEEREARF
owners of the Company for the purpose of (E1B)MEMARRQ A
basic earnings/(loss) per share HEANBIEFRRET,
(E518) 2,983 (2,364)
Number of shares
Ein# A
2024 2023
—EE S
Number of shares 20 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary BT ESRERAT,
shares for the purpose of basic (B18) 2 L@k hntk
earnings/(loss) per share FHE 92,137,051 92,137,051

The weighted average of 92,137,051 shares for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 are derived from 921,370,512
ordinary shares in issue as at 1 January 2023 after taking into
account the effect of the share consolidation on 2 January
2024, whereby every 10 existing ordinary shares in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company were consolidated
into 1 consolidated share.

HE_ZT_NFR_ZT_=ZF+=
A=+ —HLEFEOMEFHH
92,137,051 R KER =T ==F—H—
B B2 #17/#9921,370,5120% & 3@ I - I 5+
R-ZoE—A-—BRHEGHZE
Bt ARAEBITRRBITRAFF
10RI[EEBREEHFRIRE HIRGD -

hRAEMERERAE

B EER
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE (continuec)

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Earnings/(loss) figures are calculated as follows:

13. ERERN, (FE) #

ARREAEABRGEEREAREER
M,/ (B8R WETEERNIATBUE

R/ (BR)BFHAENT

2024 2023
—EmE —E=F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETTT

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RAEERERLES
owners of the Company for the purpose BF, (E1E)ms &
of basic and diluted earnings/(I0ss) RARHE ANEEEA
per share wmAl (E518) 2,983 (2,364)

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above
for both basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share.

The basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are the same as
the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

FTRE D B8 ECGRHRA B IR E A K B
ERN, (BE) WS &ER -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. YE - -BERFZRE
Furniture,
Plant and fittings and Motor Right-of-use
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles  Subtotal assets Total
&

#F BEREE KERER RE Mt ERERE #it
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTRT AR®BTR AR®TT ARBTR ARBRTT ARRTRT ARRTR

COST ;%3
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=%-8-H 525,606 158,944 6,159 12,772 703,481 82,564 786,045
Additions RE - 564 91 978 1,633 - 1,633
Disposals L& - (48) - (1,093) (1,141) (123) (1,264)
Exchange realignment ERTECE - - - - - 1 1
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=§+ZA=+-HR

1 January 2024 —Z_mE—-fF—A 525,606 159,460 6,250 12,657 703,973 82,442 786,415
Additions RE - 9,949 19 3,092 13,160 - 13,160
Disposals HE (101) - (6) (3,296) (3,403) - (3,403)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZEB-ME+-A=+-A 525,505 169,409 6,363 12,453 713,730 82,442 796,172
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RHMERBEGR

AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-HA—-H 258,140 102,453 5,455 7933 373981 43545 417,526
Charge for the year FRZH 17,554 10,686 57 1,457 29,754 1,566 31,320
Elimination on disposals REEREE - (46) - (1,038) (1,084) (123) (1,207)
Exchange realignment B HE - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2023 and RIBZ=§+-A=+-HR

1 January 2024 —S_mE-A-H 275,694 113,093 5512 8,352 402,651 44,988 447,639
Charge for the year FRZH 16,320 9,409 71 1,484 27,284 1,505 28,789
Elimination on disposals RILEREH (59) - (6) (3132 (3,197) - (3,197)
At 31 December 2024 RZB-mE+ZAZ+-A 29195 122502 5577 6704 426738 16493 473231
NET CARRYING AMOUNT BESE
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+-A=1+-H 233,550 46,907 786 5749 286,992 35,949 32294
At 31 December 2023 R-B-Z%+-R=+-AH 249912 46,367 738 4,305 301,322 37,454 338,776

hRAEMERERAE /l 35
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERRZE®

(Continuead)

Buildings are held for own use and are situated in the PRC.
At 31 December 2024, buildings with net carrying amount of
RMB20,451,000 (2023: RMB103,788,000) were pledged to banks
for certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 25).

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

The shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful
lives, being no more than 20 years
after the date of completion

- Buildings

- Plant and machinery 10 years

- Furniture, fittings and 5 years
equipment

- Motor vehicles 5 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

URFAPENEFREEER - RN =
ZHWHFE+ZA=+—RA EEFEAA
R #20,451,000t (ZZ2Z=F - ARE
103,788,0007T ) 2 F E | T IR1T - {E
AREEERNETRITREEEZER
(Hi7¥25) ©

FrETD AR SRR E AR A ERFEEY
X BEMRESERE ZRAMBEEE
BEAE -REAAETEFERMT:

—&F DA A BB fh 5t
A B e & At
B (ANKRTAEE
N iBiB20%)

— B R #Es 105

—KM-KE 5%

e
- 5%

BEMTEHEHRATGEE (WA
SRR R -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
The Group as lessee

Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and

equipment)

14. ¥ -BERRKRE#)

REBEREMEA
FREELEE (EBEEYE BERSR
ER)
Leased Land use

properties rights Total
HEYME ITHERAE #at

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTT

As at 31 December 2024

R-S-_ME+"RA=+—H

Carrying amount BREFE - 35,949 35,949
As at 31 December 2023 WR-_Z_=%+"-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRMEEE - 37,454 37,454
For the year ended BE_Z_mME+_A=+—H
31 December 2024 IEFEE
Depreciation charge TES W - 1,505 1,505
For the year ended BE_Z_=%+"-A=+—H
31 December 2023 IEEE
Depreciation charge WEXH 61 1,505 1,566
Exchange realignment IE 5 78 & Q) - Q)
60 1,505 1,565
2024 2023
—E_ME T =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBETT
Total cash outflow for leases MEZBE R - 97

At 31 December 2024, land use rights with an aggregate
carrying amount of RMB24,882,000 (2023: RMB34,156,000)
were pledged as securities for certain banking facilities granted

to the Group (note 25).

RoZT-WmMFE+—RH=

T— B REAE

BAREE2488200T (T -=F: AR
#34,156,0007C) M L F AEC EAR T
AEBAE FROBREAEHAR (M

25) °

hRAEMERERAE

B EER
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continuea)
The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (included in property, plant and
equipment) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Land use rights Over the lease term

Leased properties Over the lease term
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the buildings,
plant and land use rights based on higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount of
the relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable amount
based on fair value less costs of disposal and no impairment
has been recognised for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

14. M¥ - BERSEE#)

KEBEAEMRA (&)

ERAEEE (CEEEVE BERR
Br) (&)

EREEEREBM LA AIEREH (A
BIEERE)REBETE T

T fE R RIEEA

HEMH REEA
WRERERGEEEENER EEE
EARKESKANRBBEEENTTE I
EARBEENM I ERFEHTH-

M - B E kR ER G
REBBBEATERESKANEEAE
BERRaEMGFREEY BERTHER
EHAREeE 2T _NFM=_F
=+ A=+ HLEFE HEEE
WEMEETEREATEREAEEER
BRI UR el & 8 - R FERRIRL(E ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. BEYH
Buildings
B¥
RMB’000
AR®TR
COST 5%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F—H—H-
31 December 2024 T =Ff+-A=+—HK
—EoNFE+=—A=+—H 57,030
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND RIHERBERR
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 24,094
Charge for the year FRZH 1,714
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-H=+—H 25,808
Charge for the year FAZH 1,713
At 31 December 2024 W_ZE_WHFE+—_A=+—H 27,521
NET CARRYING AMOUNT IRE${E
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-—WHE+=-HA=+—H 29,509
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H 31,222
The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight- PR EYMERESERNTERITE
line basis at the following rates per annum:
Buildings Over the term of lease Y fEHEER A
The Group's investment properties were stated at cost less AREERIEEMEDIRKFEFTITE R

accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. BE (A IR

hRAEMERERAE /I 39

B EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea) 15. REWXE »)

Impairment assessment BB G

The recoverable amount is determined based on the fair AU B & IR A FEREERA (BiEA
value less cost of disposal (i.e. the higher of fair value less FAER B B A AR (LARK AN % 47 Y B2 3
cost of disposal (by using the cost approach) and value in BEFREEEE-R_Z_MFR=-F
use). As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount ZEFFT A=+ —H REAUEHED
of investment properties does not exceed the recoverable REEETBREATEREEEKAE
amount based on fair value less cost of disposal and therefore, AU El SR8 - EEMFEE IR ERRE

no impairment has been recognised for both years.

16. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS FOR 16. WIEYME BERREHIEENH
ACQUISITIONS OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND i
EQUIPMENT
The amount mainly represented the prepaid construction cost X ERME LIS TEN TR A o
for plant and machinery. An analysis of non-current deposits of BT RRK ARSI T

construction cost is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_mE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETTT

Deposits for other constructions and EMREARDE BE R
property, plant and equipment RENILS 649 2,665

649 2,665
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

17. Hth&@EE

2024 2023
—EmE ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARKEF T
Equity investments at fair value through BAFEGFAEMET
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") e (MeAFERFA
(note a) HE2mEfa=s])my
AR E (Kiata) 4,324 3,378
Other financial assets at fair value RATER AER
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (note b) (MBEAFEFAER])
MEMSREE (K/2b) 14,024 15,055
18,348 18,433
Less: Current portion Wk BN EREL (14,024) (15,055)
Non-current portion JERNEEE o 4,324 3,378

Notes:

@

The equity investments represent unlisted investments in 5% (2023:
5%) and 1.3% (2023: 1.3%) equity interests of two (2023: two) PRC local
banks in Zhangping City, Fujian Province, the PRC. The equity investments
were irrevocably designated at FVTOCI as the Group considered these
investments to be strategic in nature.

The dividend income received related to the equity investment for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was RMB709,000 (2023: RMB727,000) (note 6).

As at 31 December 2024, other financial assets at FVTPL represent
Australian Dollar denominated structured products of a Hong Kong
investment bank of RMB14,024,000.

As at 31 December 2023, other financial assets at FVTPL represent
investment product of a PRC bank of RMB5,216,000 and Australian Dollar
denominated structured product of a Hong Kong investment bank of
RMB9,839,000.

Hiz

ZEABAERRTHERZEZFTMHE (=T
= mRE)PREARITI (Z R =5
5% ) %1.3% (T == :13%) REWIELT
RE-RARE DT HE 35 E RRAFE
sPARME2EKEIE REAREERRZ
SREBERIEE -

BE_T-NF+-_A=+—HLFE BEK
B 2 e AR 4% AR B B M B AR #6709,0007T
(ZZ==%: AR¥727,0007t) (F7E6)

RZZ-ZWF+-—A=+—8 R2FEFA
BREME & R E E A AR E14,024,0007T#) —
HBEBRERITHRTTEEBLLER-

RZZEZ=F+-A=+—8 R2FEFA
BEMEMSEEE B ARES216,0007T #) —
fl P B SR AT IR B B R R AR #59,839,0007T B —
HMESREEITHRITHELEBER-

PREMIERERAE
TR EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

18. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

18. IEERIE
BESAMBRRERRS BT EEH
FHEERABERIEY - A T2BHER
& B R IESREN S

2024 2023

—E-mE T =F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT AR¥EFIT

Deferred tax assets EEFIAE E 3,772 3,193
Deferred tax liabilities RIEIERE (4,879) (3,270)
(1,107) (77)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

L‘AT%ZKEJ?%DDAWEFEEE%E’UI%‘@E
MEBRBEMEEREED:

prior years:
Unrealised Unrealised Fair value
loss on (loss)/gain PRC adjustments
other  on derivative dividend Impairment of equity
financial financial withholding underECL  investments
assets  instruments tax model at FVTOCI Others Total
BRATERA
Rt & fiEem REGEE At2EREH
HENXER  IANKER hERE  BRES BERE
ER (BE) k& RiR wiE HATERE it #it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR
{1 January 2023 R=Z-=%-A-H ) 3 (1,707) 1,190 158 ) (1,026
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (rote 70) (k%) / s AB2 (#sE10) (799) (109) - 83 - 1 (74)
Credited to other comprehensive income SARMZERA - - - - 1023 - 1,023
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZZF+ZA=+-HR
1 January 2024 ZEZ-mE-A-A (1,789) 225 (1,707) 2013 1,181 - 7
(Charged)/Credited to profit or loss (rote 1) (%) / st AEZ (K1) (854) 12 - 720 - (866) (888)
Credited to other comprehensive income AR ZERA - - - - (142) - (142)
At 31 Decemher 2024 RZB-EE+ZA=+-R (2643) 37 (1,707) 2733 1,039 (366) (1,107)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

18. DEFERRED TAXATION (continuea)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately RMB165,242,000 (2023:
RMB229,842,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
approximately RMB165,242,000 (2023: RMB229,842,000) with
expiry dates as disclosed in the following table.

18. IELEMIE ()
RS ER - R EE 4 A R #165,242,000
T (ZEZ=%F: AR¥229,842,0007T) &
B) 3 A4 78 /85 98 AT 48 85 R s A o A AR 2R
B RE S A BRI SRR R E AR
BRBRELEHEEE - AEAMEERE
BHEH AR EE165,242,0007T (T = =4 :
A R #229,842,0007T ) & fE5 18 - EF| BR A 10

TR~
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTIT

2024 == fP_TIi = 81,827
2025 —E_TNF 92,900 92,900
2026 —ERF - -
2027 —TF 39,451 39,451
2028 —ZEN\F 15,664 15,664
2029 —ZENF 17,227 -
hRAEMERERAE

B EER
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19. INVENTORIES 19. 8

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETFIT
Raw materials AR 38,107 62,850
Work in progress TER 57,211 21,413
Finished goods BURK G 28,334 31,677
123,652 115,940

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ES R HMEWRFIE
2024 2023
—E_QlE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETIT
Trade receivables g 5 rWERIE 95,303 62,181
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (17,909) (13,360)
77,394 48,821
Trade deposit for raw materials REMRE SIS 44,068 50,094
Interest receivables FEU A B, 15,367 10,103
Prepayments and other receivables TR BRIE N E b Uk R IE 21,428 5,373
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (1,248) (1,248)
79,615 64,322
Total trade and other receivables HORHEMEKRIERETE 157,009 113,143
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuea) ~ 20. B 5 R HABEWRIE (%)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowances)
as of the end of reporting period, based on invoice date, is as
follows:

RBEHRR EHRUKRE (NHREERE
)R DT (REEBEDIR)AT

2024 2023

—ElE —E-=F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AE®TR AREFIT

Within 1 month REDEEA 25,036 8,406
1 to 2 months 1Z2218 A 20,556 17,334
2 to 3 months 22 31E A 20,650 5,959
Over 3 months 31E A LA E 11,152 17,122
77,394 48,821

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to RMB52,479,000.

Trade receivables are normally due within 90 days to 180 days
(2023: 90 days to 180 days) from the date of billing.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB59,537,000 (2023: RMB35,999,000) which are
past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB11,385,000 (2023: RMB28,777,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 41(b)(@).

RZZBE_=F—A—H EBUREF&EHE
55038 m A R ¥#52,479,0007T ©

B 5 e WA — R H BB B A ET90
HZE180H (ZZE = =4 :90H £180H) A
FHo

RZZZWMFE+=ZA=+—H 4A&H
EZRWFEBEHREFREROLAEAA
R#59,537,000t (Z T ==F: AR
35,999,0007T ) B 7 # & B @ 8 1 fE W AR
oAt B ER A - AR #511,385,0007T
—E =% ANR¥28,777,0007T ) i1 HA
0K Bk IA E TR ABEL -

B 5 & H A WFUE R E AR B
F4100)@) °

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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21.

22.

23.

B 5 ERR N & (a)

DERIVATIVES FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS TR T A
2023
—E=F
Assets Liabilities
BE af&E
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETIT AREETTT
Foreign currency contracts HNEEE K9
(notes 37(b) & 37(c)) (H15237(b) %37(c)) 771 (22)

The derivative financial instruments represented certain
foreign currency forward contracts entered with the financial
institutions, which are not designated for hedge purposes
and are measured at FVTPL. Changes in the fair value of non-
hedging foreign currency forward contracts were credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as at end of
reporting period. All of the foreign currency forward contracts
are settled within one year.

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rates range from
3.25% t0 4.70% (2023: 3.25% to 6.20%) and represent deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits
are set out in note 37(b)(@).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include short term deposits
amounted to RMB267,659,000 (2023: RMB160,581,000) for the
purpose of meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates range from 0.80% to 6.00%
(2023: 1.25% to 6.40%). The remaining time deposits amounted
to RMB83,928,000 (2023: RMB160,398,000) carry fixed interest
rates range from 2.10% to 5.64% (2023: 3.45% to 5.82%) per
annum with maturity over one year and therefore classified as
non-current assets.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out
in note 37(b)(@).

22.

23.

MESRMTARKRESREBIILNET
SNERIIA K RE AW RIEERNE
B WIRAFEFABRTE I
SRR MR R P EZ BN EIRE
ANREBRaER -AIMNEERANEE—
FRBEH

SR FER

B IR1T 7 BRI F3.25%E4.70% (=
2::¢ 3.25%%6.20% ) &) & & F| F &t
B RGRIT AR A EBERRT

vﬂﬁs@ﬁw

B35 40 R 17 77 O (8 5 1 5 15 WA B 5
37(0)(a) °

BERBEEEEY

R RALEENLEARELEE

%Eﬁﬁﬁ@%%%ﬂﬁafgmhiﬁﬁm/\ﬁ
#267,659,000t (Z T =F: AR
160,581,0007T ) + ¥ 1 35 F & 7/ F0.80%
E600% (T - =4 :1.25%F6.40% ) =t
BT EHIF A R #83,928,0007T (=
T = =F: ARM160,398,0007T ) 3% & &
FEFEN FT210%E5.64% ( — T = =4 :
3.45%%5.82% ) 5T 2 - BARR B —F - B
DIERIETHEE -

RITAERRRERT (A R B E M RE37(b)a)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES . B REMEMNTRIE
2024 2023
—EME —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREEFTT
Trade and bills payables (note i) B S ENRIEREMNEE
(Btati) 85,309 32,505
Accrued staff costs FHRETIRA 11,152 9,138
Payables for acquisition of property, BB BEREEZ
plant and equipment FET FRIE 2,104 1,223
Payables for transportation fee FETiB & A 565 287
Other payables and accruals Hib A FIAKETER 13,259 14,500
Provision for medical compensation (note i) BB 2 Bt (A7 aEi) 4,000 4,290
116,389 61,943
Less: Provision for medical compensation B RIERIEER () 2
classified as non-current portion BEmE o BE (3,610) (3,900)
Current portion BB &L 19 112,779 58,043

Notes:

The balance comprises bills payables of RMB43,949,000 (2023: RMB16,396,000).

ii. The provision for medical compensation is mainly estimated based on the
assumption including past experience of the medical expenses.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

M-

HEHRBERNREARKA3,949,0007T (ZF
=% AR¥16,396,0007T) ©

i. BREMBEEFSIERREBUAENERERL

BAGEM -

RBMERR REZEHIR EHEN
PIERENREOREDTAT :

2024 2023
—E_WmE —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TR AREFIT
Within 1 month KEDEEA 27,330 9,810
1to 2 months 1Z221@ A 12,969 5,109
2 to 3 months 22 31E A 13,963 249
Over 3 months 3@ A LA E 31,047 17,337
85,309 32,505

RRHEYIERERAR

B EER
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS, 25.
SECURED

ATERITER FEA

2024 2023
ZE_mEFE —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARBTIT

Fixed-rate bank borrowings, secured ESRITENR BEA 186,400 86,900
The carrying amounts of the A EREEEEBRZ
above borrowings are repayable: ARMEE :
Within one year —FR 66,400 76,900
Within a period of more than one year Bl —FETBERFE
but not exceeding two years 120,000 10,000
Carrying amounts of total bank borrowings — $R1T{& 4258 2 BRE & 186,400 86,900
Less: Amount due within one year shown & RBIBEE TR 2
under current liabilities —FREIHAFIA (66,400) (76,900)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities  3ER BB (&8 /R 2 708 120,000 10,000

The Group entered into certain banking facilities with certain
PRC banks with an aggregate amount of RMB241,400,000
(2023: RMB111,900,000), of which, the bank borrowings of
RMB186,400,000 (2023: RMB86,900,000) have been utilised at
the end of reporting dates).

The secured banking facilities are secured by certain
of the Group’s land use rights, buildings and pledge
deposits amounting to approximately RMB24,882,000
(2023: RMB34,156,000) (note 14), RMB20,451,000 (2023:
RMB103,788,000) (note 14) and RMB176,089,000 (2023:
RMB77,051,000) (note 22), respectively.

AEBEBEAETHRBEMNERITII LA TR
REREE ©B2£%8A ARM241,400,000
T(ZZZ=%F: AK%¥111,900,0007T)
HPFRBEASARSEFEARTERA
R 186,400,000 (ZZEZ=F: AR¥
86,900,0007T ) °

EERETREEEUNAEEE T+
ERE - EFREEREFTRD A E
RO ANRM24,882,000C (ZF =
F: AR %34,156,00070) (Mf&E14)
ANR#20,451,000C (ZE = =F: A
R #103,788,0007t) (Fiz14) R AR
176,089,000 (T - =4F: AR
77,051,0007T) (Ff5E22) o
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

26. AR

2024 2023

—E_lE TECZF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETIT

Contract liabilities AREE 12,805 7,675

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB13,586,000.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the contract liabilities
mainly included the receipt in advance from sales of wooden
products. The Group expects that the unsatisfied performance
obligations will be recognised within one year form the end of

RZE-_=F—A—H AHABEAAR
#13,586,0007T °

R-ZEB_NER-_F_=F+_H=1+—
H anaEI2RERARERIFER.
AEBEFRBITHNENRBEBERSH
BRI —F RIS EHER -

the reporting date.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract

liabilities recognised are as follows: INEESN

When the Group receives a deposit before the delivery of
goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a

EAKEER

HRERA DA RS TER
T

TEN KX

NE Y < AR ENR 2 8 - 4R
ERRANRBRELEANARE BIIHE

contract, until the revenue recognised exceeds the amount of REVWNEBRIZ S5 T8 Hﬁz B HRIBH
the deposit. The amount of the advance from customers, if any, SH(WE)DREBEEBBELETPIHE
was negotiated on a case by case basis with customers. MmiE e
2024 2023
—EmE T =F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTRT ARBTT
At 1 January ®n—H—H 7,675 13,586
Amounts included in contract liabilities that ~ RERER AV ANE L
was recognised as revenue during the year B &R BRAFRIE (7,523) (9,883)
Cash received from sales of wonder products FELART &€ R BITHIB L)
not previously recognised as revenue due EEMARERBWAZ
to unsatisfied performance REHEBEAREEMILE 2
Re 12,632 3,873
Exchange difference EHER 21 99
At 31 December R+—_HA=+—H 12,805 7,675
hRHEYERAERA R

B EER
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27. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) A RELATED 27. B (FER) BB, EEXR
PARTY/A DIRECTOR |
Amount due from a related company ek N
2024 2023
—E-_mE —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000
Name of party Hre8 Relationship B {& AR®TR AREFT

Green Seas Capital Limited Green Seas Capital Limited A private company controlled
by Wu Zheyan, a director

of the Company 74 71
Less: allowance for creditlosses il : (5 & BB A —RMRAE (FRA—
ER)FH2LEDQT (2) )
72 69
The amount due from a related company is unsecured, JEWBEE AR RBEAEER 2EREE
interest-free and repayable on demand. SKIEE -
Amount due to a director i ANEE /e
2024 2023
—E_ME —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBTIT

Due to a director T EE A 10,781 10,572
The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free, and ENEERELAERF EEBHEEZX
repayable on demand. EiE-

1 50 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

28. EXR - -RERERE

(@) Share capital @ MR
Authorised and issued share capital EERBBITRA
2024 2023
—E-mE k- alt -
Number of Number of
Par Value shares Amount Par Value shares Amount
BiAEE BiA®A &8 BAEE L Ex
HK$ ‘000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HKS'000
BT TH TET BT T T
Authorised: EE:
Ordinary share EER 0.5 200,000 100,000 0.05 2,000,000 100,000
2024 2023
—E_mE —“E-CF
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
B8 B &8 BHEE 28
‘000 RMB'000 '000 RMB'000
FiE ARWTE T ARETR
ordinary shares of HK$0.5 % iE B Bi0.5: T
each (2023: HK$0.05 each), k-~ e
issued and fully paid: ®|R0.05%ETT)
BETRER:
At 1 January Rn—HA—H 921,370 38,462 921,370 38,462
Effect on share consolidation IR A BB 3 (M)
(note) (829,233) - - -
At 31 December R+-A=+—H 92,137 38,462 921,370 38,462
Note: On 2 January 2024, the share consolidation was effective which is W RZZ_WME—-—AZHB BHAEHE

on the basis that every 10 existing ordinary shares in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company be consolidated into
1 consolidated share, the existing ordinary shares in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company of 2,000,000,000 have

been consolidated into 200,000,000 consolidated shares.

BoAHEERBARRBEITRAHE
TIRAG EI10RIRE BB A 6 R
AU ARREBITRARBEITRA
#12,000,000,0000 3 A E B E & 5 &
200,000,000/ & O & 7

hRAEMERERAE

B EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
IJF j&%?ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬂfﬁmg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continuead)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

)

(i)

(i)

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference
between the par value of the shares of the
Company and proceeds received from the issue of
the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium account of the
Company is distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company would be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
currency differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of the entities with
functional currency other than Renminbi. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 3(b).

Statutory reserve

Transfers from retained profits to PRC statutory
reserve are made in accordance with the relevant
PRC rules and regulations and the articles of
association of the Company's subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the
respective boards of directors.

28. EX-HERRE (&)

FEEIEE M E W

@

(i)

(iii)

A0 18

Pt B A A B IR () H E
HEITAR R FTUER PR
IAZ [RH) Z 5 o

BIEFREHSRANE XA T
B aEBEANES A HSIK
FARATBMRE MEEEEZ
DR E B EiE - AR RIZARE
EN —REKBIES RN
(EUEE

BE

BE SR B B AEAA R IAIMG
DEEERHREREBERM R
RITELNMAINEEZE X
i TR B 30T E e &
SHERR BRI ©

EERE
B {8 2 M) e 8 = o BDE E
1 TR R AR B8 B AR R R AR B

L‘x&$“ﬁﬁqﬂ Eifpava:olity=
RAMEBERAAET X
EEMARESSHAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR EE (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

28. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)
(iii) Statutory reserve (Continued)

The subsidiaries in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of its after-tax profit, as
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting
rules and regulations, to statutory general reserve
until the reserve balance reaches 50% of the
registered capital. The transfer to this reserve
must be made before distribution of a dividend to
shareholders.

Statutory general reserve can be used to make
good prior years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into paid-up capital provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25%
of the registered capital.

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises
the cumulative net changes in the fair value of
equity instruments designated as measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

(c) Distributable reserves

The aggregate amounts of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company were
RMB233,788,000 (2023: RMB225,380,000).

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors
proposed no final dividend (2023: Nil).

o)

©

28. EXR - -RERERE &)

EHEEEREN (#)

(iiiy EERME(E)
b B0 #0 B B 2 7178 8 HH10% 89
BREER (K REREE
SRR RBOIMET) E— KR
TG AEH AT
B AR H50%5 Lt o 88 = R 1
AR E D R AIHETT

—ROEE R A AR IERE
FEBER(ME)  ArEHmE
BRERA EEHEIRENG
ER SR S B AN H925% o

(iv) DFERE(TTHE)
RFEFE(TUEE) BE
WIRESLIE E BIR A FEFTA
Hth 2 Weas 2 B T APTER
MERTHURIEE B A FER
AHRMEEREZBRARTAYZ
RNFHERFES -

Al 5 k&
AAARRREFEBEADRZ #E
4858 A A R 1233,788,0007T (=&
— =4 : AR#225,380,0007T) °

KBS BRI RS BB TRER
BRI E (T - =F &)

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 29. BRESTEIRR MBS

AWARD SCHEME
(@) Share option scheme (@) HERxHEFTE

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders
on 15 June 2012, the Company has conditionally adopted
the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging the
contributions the eligible participants had or may have
made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, grant
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to the
Directors (including executive Directors, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and
employees of the Group and any other persons (including
consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group. The Directors were authorised to grant
options to subscribe for shares of the Company and to
allot, issue and deal with the ordinary shares pursuant to
the exercise of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and to take all such steps as may be necessary
and/or desirable to implement and give effect to the
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and under any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue immediately
following completion of the Global Offering (as defined
in the Company's prospectus dated 25 June 2012),
being 100,000,000 shares, excluding any shares that
may be issued under the options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
(or any other share option schemes of the Company),
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company in general meeting and/or such other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

BEZERER_ZT—Z_FA
THEBRBANRRE ARAEAR
{6 R A — TE BB AR A 5T 281 (T BB AR 48
HEll) - ABEE R GEskA g
HASEELEROEERZEA
ToRBBRESE - EEGRRE
MEE(BRHATES FRTESE
RBIERITES) ARAMBER
AzER AEBEEERESEER
BWERRGE I AR EEIED
ERMERNEMAT (BREERE
FIkEER ) R BRI - EFERE
REBRENRBERRARD &
e BT REERBERETS
I ERERITEMBITHER
& - A B2 BB Y B AT AR AT & %
FE2ERMEAVLERKEETH
— 1B E R IR AR A B R
Hih AR RIBRESImA T
BRENEEROEE &£ F
BAEREEKEE (ERRAQA
B AT - ~A=ZTHA®W
RIRER) TR B BT B2
10% + B1100,000,000 gD © T8
FEAEMBEBRESTE (AR F
Efa] Bt B AR A T 81D B9 4R B R K
B RS AR AE T Rl BITRORR M) - R
ARIRBERERE EBITHER,
3 E AR BIT R 5A A AR EE R
Hhe
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 29. BRETTEIRRDERE (&)

AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

(@) Share option scheme (continuea) (@) EERRERTE (@)

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the
Company in general meeting, the number of shares
that may be granted to an eligible participant under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company (including both exercised and
outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the shares
in issue of the Company within any 12-month period
Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors. Unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules, the number of shares
that may be granted to a substantial shareholder or any
independent non-executive Director or their respective
associates under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company (including
both exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed
0.1% of the shares in issue, having an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period.

BOFERRBRRRRERAG LS
TTHAE BRI ERBRAE S
ER A AR R R & A — %
AERZEERLNBROEE (B
BRETERRITERERE)  T5&E
B AN B AL ] — {218 A #E
EETERMNI% - EAMAESE K
RAERITBABERETEZRE (F
ER TR KIEECFAEENHE
A(EER EWRR) X TR BRE
BAEBIFFRTEEORE R
ARBBEREBRRAE ESITHE
R/ ETRAUSERE  BRRE
Bt g REMEMARREK
BAEAR T EIERRIEFBL
FRATEFHEHZANBEANEK
BB (BREDITERRITEEKR
&) - NS E R —E1218 A #RE
BTN 10.1%3 & HEEE RS
BEEL-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 29. BRETEIRRDERE (&)
AWARD SCHEME (continued)

(@) Share option scheme (continuea) (@) EERRERTE (@)

There is no minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised, and the period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion, however, no options
shall be exercised 10 years after they have been granted.
The subscription price of a share in respect of a particular
option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official
closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing
price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of
a share. The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from
the date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a
period of 10 years from that date.

From the date that the Share Option Scheme became
effective and unconditional and up to the date of this
annual report, no share options were granted under the
Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
ordinary shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 9,213,705 (2023: 92,137,051), representing 10%
of the issued shares of the Company.

METBERREETERNARE
B & 52 EABR - M B AR AT AT A R
MEBEEG2EMBERTE A
ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁmﬁ%@$ﬁﬁﬁ
ﬁ@ﬁi%%%mknmﬁf
BERTIESE: F%“%ta
ﬁ%%%ﬁ%aﬁh@%mﬁy
%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%i%
BEHRERMBNE 7RG FHK
TE: RO G EE - IERER B
BHEFMBBHRERNHBEZA
RIOFHERN—E/ R -

B BB ET 8 A RN R R AR
BEEAFHAM HEREERE
FHEIR B AE

AAFEIRE B ERETEE A
T L R AR 1D 48 #0R9,213,705
B (== — =4 :92,137,0518% ) 1k
RABEEITIRDEI10% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 29. BRETTEIRRDERE (&)

AWARD SCHEME (continueq)

(b) Share award scheme () R EEEET 2l

The Company, pursuant to a resolution passed on
14 December 2020, adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme”) for the purpose of (i) to
align interests of eligible persons, being the employees,
directors, officers, consultants or advisors of any member
of the Group, with those of the Group through ownership
of ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”),
dividends and other distribution paid on Shares and/or
increase in value of the Shares; and (i) to encourage and
retain eligible persons to make contributions to the long-
term growth and profits of the Group.

The aggregate number of shares to be made pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme (the "Award Shares”) will not
exceed 20% of the total number of issued shares capital
as at the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme
(i.e. of 20% of 741,200,400 Shares). The aggregate number
of Award Shares which may be awarded to a selected
person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed
2% of the total number of issued Shares as at the
adoption date of the Share Award Scheme.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined
by the board of directors, the Share Award Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a term of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date.

The Award Shares, once issued, will rank equal to all
other issued Shares at that time and are not subject to
any vesting condition. The selected persons will therefore
have the right to receive dividends, dispose of and/or
exercise the rights of the Award Shares as per his/her
own wishes once the Award Shares were issued.

ARRBE T _FTF+=-A+M
FEBHARE CRAKRNDER
sHal (TRt 2B ET31)) - B W92
EBARNARERE(RMDIDES
B-EREEAEED2EME NS
ER/HRHEBE SEEBRAL
(AREEERKENEER EF-
BMAR ERRAEAA) 2 FmE
AREE M — B0 R(iE B Mg &
BERALHBAHASEELER
WREAERZ RBER R HEN -

RAR A SREN A8 2 PR A D
(IRBBRHDBEAKIBEB
Rk REFHEZRADHITR
10 48 21,220% + (B1741,200,4008% A%
17 #920% ) < AR 95 A% 00 SR EF B4 T
—HEFEAT 2 RBRMDBETE
BERRABREHITROBERZ
2% °

RFEREERERMNKLL TAIK
0 2R &S B3R B B RT +4F
HREAE-

BERO —R#T BEERSHA
Hi 2 BTk AEFMERMBA - IF
TEEFMEBIREAR - EEAL
B EL AR REAR D EITR &
WENBE BEMBRE  HER
TT1E SRR A AD RO AR RERE R o
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 29. BRETEIRRDERE (&)
AWARD SCHEME (continued)

(b) Share award scheme (continued) () M&1pEEEhETE ()

31 December 2024

On 15 April 2024, the Company granted 3,900,000 Award
Shares involving new Shares to 7 employees of the
Group and none of them is an existing shareholder of
the Company in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme (subject to acceptance by the grantees),
representing approximately 4.23% of the total Shares
in issue and approximately 4.06% of the total Shares
in issue as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the
Award Shares. All of the Award Shares are subject to a
vesting period of 12 months.

31 December 2023

No Award Share was granted during the year ended 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 7,206 (2023:
39,072,064) Award Shares available for awarding to
eligible persons under the Share Award Scheme, which
represented approximately 0.008% (2023: 4.24%) of the
issued shares as at the end of respective reporting dates.

—EZ_mE+=A=+—H

RZZEZMEWPA+HA  AQA
RIRAR (0 S E) 5T 21 A9 X ) AR 52 [
7THEB (HEARRBAERR)E
b 35 I 37 IR 19 #93,900,0000% 42 B i%
W (EHFEARAER) HEBITR
1B ELKIA.23% f 48 B 1T I Bip 35 42
BB R 2 B EITRG B HL
4.06% - FTAERENRGO M EB#HHE A
128 A -

—E_=%+ZA=+—H

RBE-_Z_=F+-A=+—H
LEFE AR B A o

RZZBZNF+=ZA=+—H &R
A157,206( ZF = =4 :39,072,064)
A% 82 B A% 1 °T AR 38 AR {7 SR B 51 &1 4%
%AﬁﬁAt'mvﬁﬁﬁiH%

KRBT TR £0.008% (=&
__:ﬁ¥-424%)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

30. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 30. KEHEZTH

The Group leases, as lessor, certain of the Group's investment
properties, (note 15) in the PRC were leased out under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB1,970,000
(2023: RMB2,057,000). Details of rental income are set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease rental receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

AER(EARBAANRBEEERERY
HAEMATRENE TREYWSE (W
15) KK —REKBPHAARSE
S AEBRFABRZEASKRAARA
R#1,970,000c (T - =% AR
2,057,0007T) + 8 & Y A FF 15 = B 1S
FHIFE6 -

RZE-_WNF+_A=+—H AEEIR
BHEBPFT AT BHEEHLN KK
HE R ARTEASHT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARBETIT

Within one year —F R 2,466 1,635
After one year but within two years —FREREAN 1,803 1,268
After two years but within three years MEZREBE=ZFA 1,108 845
5,377 3,748
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EREIE

There is no capital commitment outstanding as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 not provided for in these consolidated financial
Statements.

RIE-WNEN T =F+_/A=+—
A TESGAETETENGSPEHRE
N R B RS -

hRAEMERERAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LOSS BEFORETAXTO 32. BBl EEKSE XKAEBR

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS SR
2024 2023
—E-_mE —EZ=F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
g3 ARBTT AREFT
Loss before tax: B AIEE (4,201) (1,898)
Adjustments for: AT EIEELFHE:
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITERFERAEZ 8 3,860 1,331
Interest expense on lease liabilities HESENH ST 8 - 28
Depreciation on property, ME BERBENTE
plant and equipment 9b) 27,284 29,754
Depreciation on land use right BEEERAEEZED
included within right-of-use assets TR NE ) 1,505 1,505
Depreciation on leased properties BREEERAEEED
included within right-of-use assets MENMELTE ab) = 61
Depreciation of investment properties REMENTE ab) 1,713 1,714
Fair value loss on derivative financial TELBIERATFEF
instruments, net &5 7 1,084 8,932
Fair value gain on other financial assets HMemEEMN
N EYE 7 (164) (548)
Interest income FEBA 6 (22,524) (16,194)
Dividend income [ 24 6 (709) (727)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HENE BEREE
plant and equipment i),/ B 7 (4) 30
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EINEAR W= 7 - (838)
Provision for expected credit losses on B ENFUBEAEE
trade receivables EERE 4,549 1174
Operating cashflow before movements HEES B
in working capital BEREME 12,393 24,324
Increase in inventories FEEM (7,712) (26,066)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 Rk EMERIE
other receivables (&) /wD (37,294) 18,686
Increase in trade and other payables 2 5 N E B FIEL 61,113 13,408
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aHaEEm/ Chd) 5,001 (5.918)
Cash generated from operations REEBRERE 33,501 24,434

1 éo China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 33. MEEHMELAEBNHR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in Group's liabilities arising TRAMKEBRESTHELENEBEZE
from financing activities. ke
Interest-
hearing bank Amount
borrowings, Lease due to
secured liabilities a director Total
HERT
-8 EHEE
HEW HEAR RE it
RVB'000 RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBETT ARETT ARETT
(note 27) (note 29) (note 31)

(Hit27) (H1i£29) (Hri31)

At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-8—-H 53,950 69 4,783 58,802
Cash flow: Rene:

~ Repayment of lease liabilities -EEHEAR - 97) - 97)
- Interest paid —-BERHE (1,331) - - (1,331)
— Obtained new bank borrowings  —EUS#RITHE R 86,900 - - 86,900
—Repayment of bank borrowings ~ — (BB R 1T (53,950) - - (53,950)
- Advance from a director - REESHEX - - 5,692 5692
Non-cash flows: RETME:

- Interest expenses —FERE 1,331 28 - 1,359
— Effects of foreign exchange -ERFE - - 97 97

At 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-=%+”-HA=+-H

1 January 2024 R-Z_M&—-A—H 86,900 - 10,572 97,472
Cash flow: Beng:
- Interest paid -BHFIE (3,860) - - (3,860)
- Obtained new bank borrowings  —EUEHIRITER 231,900 - - 231,900
—Repayment of bank borrowings ~ — BB R 1THE (132,400) - - (132,400)
- Advance from a director -REEEMNEX - - 792 792
Non-cash flows: FREME:
- Interest expenses -MERAZ 3,860 - - 3,860
~ Effects of foreign exchange -ERFE - - 250 250
At 31 December 2024 R-E_ME+-A=+—A 186,400 - 10,781 197,181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
4R e BT IS R AR MY R T ()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

34. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 3. TEFBRERS
The addition of property, plant and equipment was amounted to B BB R E AR 13,160,0007T
RMB13,160,000 (2023: RMB1,633,000), of which RMB2,665,000 (ZZT=Z=%F: AR¥1,633,000T) * HA
(2023: RMB220,000) was settled via the deposit paid as at 31 AR¥2,665000L (ZE=Z=F: AR
December 2022. Details are set out in Note 16. 220,000 BB —_ T —F+—A=+—

BXMOREHEE - FHBEHNMEE6 -

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 35. EXBAME XS REREE
TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEEEBAETN
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, REBTEEREABHHM (BEWNEN
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as E 122 B ENENARREERE
disclosed in note 11 and certain of the highest paid employees FEeSHREEMFEB)WNT

as disclosed in note 12, is as follows:

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FR ARETT

Short-term employee benefits HHEERF 4,205 2,395
Equity-settled share award scheme VAR 45 S O i 1) B D 51 &)
expenses =53 = -
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIME R 86 3
4,291 2,398
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EEZNFETBRAENTNEFHEES
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to SEBMARBENIGHAEE -

the performance of individuals and market trends.

1 62 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
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36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the borrowings and amount due to a director
disclosed in notes 25 and 27, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, share premium, retained
profits and other reserves.

36.

EXEBREE
REEERBHEERAUBRAEEN TR
AaBEHERE RNTEERIERE
RN FEMNRREFRRSEH K
BB R SRAR R WA

i
ES

AEENEARARBEEFES BT K
DRI 25 R27 TR Z E R RN ES
RIE RERERASFEYARKAR]
BAEARGERZ (BREBTRA KK
HE - REENREMER) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. €@TH
(@) Categories of financial instruments @ =@mITAER
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBETTT

Financial assets EMEE
Amortised costs: AL
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E A R IR 101,899 63,034
Amount due from a related company f &Y A B OE 72 69
Time deposits TEHRTF K 351,587 320,979
Pledged deposits BEFFR 176,089 77,051
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEEY 27,200 32,499
Financial assets at FVTOCI: HRFEFGAREMER

WEZEHEE:
Equity investments N 4,324 3,378
Financial assets at FVTPL: HRFEGAEZL
Derivative financial instruments TEESMTAE - 771
Other financial assets HEthemEE 14,024 15,055
Financial liabilities Kof- =K
Amortised costs: Yl K
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMRERFRIE 100,484 47,475
Amount due to a director JERES A 11,614 10,572
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured &t B4R 71T 5 B HEIF 186,400 86,900
Financial liabilities at FVTPL: HRFEFABZLY

THEE:
Derivative financial instruments PTE2mIT A - 22

1 64 China Environmental Technology and Bioenergy Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €M I A @)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and ) =EEkEEBZREE
policies
The Group's major financial instruments include trade AEENFTZsHIABREES R
and other receivables, amount due from a related H th JE U FRIE - FE U B B R R FRIE
company, time deposits, pledged deposits, cash and cash EHFERE DEAGER - BHe kR

equivalents, equity investments at FVTOCI, derivative
financial instruments at FVTPL, other financial assets
at FVTPL, trade and other payables, amount due to
a director and borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk, liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

(@  Credit risk and impairment assessment

SEEY RAFEFAEMEZE
WHHBEARE - EAFEFTAR
ENTESBMIAE - BAFETA
BENEMBSREE BHREM
FETFRIE - BN E R RIBRE R 7%
ESRMITAFBNIEEMERE-
HZEsRMIAFBRORERKBET
LEB(EERBLEFERR) =
ERERERREE SRR T XH
MEABREZERBROBREK -EEE
EERERZERER  ABREE
A B R EUE & 1 e o

5 A
@ (FERRRAEFFG

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's EERBIEAAEE ZZ5H
counterparties default on their contractual %ﬁi ERITEHNETMS RS
obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. SRR K H E

The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables, amount
due from a related party, time deposits, pledged
deposits and bank balances. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements

AEENEERRIEZRAEAR
B 5 NE M EWGRIA - B
B J7 BB EHER B R
FRRBITHES ARELE
FEEAERmIEMIEEE

to cover its credit risk associated with its financial mm AR E SRS E AR
assets. Management has a credit policy in place FEERB-ERESETEE

and the exposure to these credit risks is monitored
on an ongoing basis.

B UHELIEELEER
B Emg A o

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Crediit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Time deposits/Pledged deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on time deposits, pledged deposits
and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit agencies.
The Group assessed 12m ECL for time deposits,
pledged deposits and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies.
Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on
time deposits, pledged deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no
loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the
management makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group assessed
the ECL for deposits are insignificant and thus
no loss allowance is recognised. In respect of
other receivables, impairment loss amounted to
RMB1,248,000 was made for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

37. €@ T H(#)
S REREIE B E NRBER

(o)

(%)

miEmE (&)

@

1EE R R E G (E)
TR 75 BRI R
7TAZER
FHFR - EEIRFERMETT
BHRNEERRER BAX
%ﬂiml%ﬁ%%%&%
WEEEMANEERITHIR
T REE2EIHBEETR
BREAGHEEEETRER
MELOBEERMELNBLRERE
BOHTHER BEBER
MIBITH AT 71218 A8 H
EEEB-BEFHBELREX.
EHEFER B EBEFERMET
HEeRm12E BB EE BB
REEWIRERN HILEE
ERBRER-

B bR L

HREHMEYSRMES B8

BREEL &L BEL
BURESEAEXFAEIERGES

WEEMEMEER HHEHAME
W sk AN iR & ) AT Y [E] M HE AT
EHEFTIH - ERERRE
LESEEVHEERREER
o BREAEE N AEEIRE
12EAFEREEBEETRTH
EEFE-BE_T_MFR_
TC=F+-A=+—HIF
B AREEFGRSEREE
BETEXN BT #EREL
B -pHEMBEYRKERS
HEZZ-_NgER-T-=F
TZRA=T-HILEFEEFE
B E 1 A KR ¥51,248,0007T ©
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Amount due from a related party

The Group assessed the loss allowance for amount
due from a related party on 12-month ECL basis.
In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into
account the historical default experience and
forward-looking information as appropriate. There
had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments. For the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, ECL for amount due from a related
party, amounted to RMB2,000 was made.

Trade receivables

In respect of trade receivables, the Group usually
requires upfront payment for sales of goods to new
customers. For export sales, the Group generally
requests settlement by letters of credit issued by
financial institutions or by wire transfer for certain
customers with good trading history. Individual
credit evaluations are performed on all new
customers requiring credit over a certain amount
and are also performed on existing customers on
a periodic basis. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and may take into
account information specific to the customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. The Group offers
90 days of credit to export sales customers with
good trading history and offers 180 days of credit
to the existing domestic sales customers. Generally,
debtors with significant overdue balances are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before
any further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

37. €@ R (%)

(o)

TREAREERRERBER
(%)
HIBEE ()

@ (=EmRRBE G (&)

/E//f/?fj A IE

ZK%@%%%H%EHH?EE?TE
AT 4 UL BB 07 SR V1R
REF-RETHRHBEEBR
R AEECEEERELRE
B M ATEIEE R - B WA
R BE N
AEBEDEEREMNE ﬁf‘ﬁﬂ’]

BREREER

—BERELEONX -BE

TMERZFE=Ft= )EJ
=T -HLEEFE CDHEKE
FIAFHREHEREBEA

E#2,0007T °

B SEWTHA
B8 5 FE WK

(BESREN

AMEER

B 5= B & - bt

BRI X T 8E

RIFES

Ho— IR %

BARERE
THEE-—KRME
WEARFESHEER-

BimE AEHE
BEESHEFPREEEYNX
B AHENE

REERTEEFAS KB
HEE (BE T
EELRENEPME ) EHE -

AEBEMEERETEER
EomEFP e ETENER
AHE ME R B R ELT
BEEE 9=
REPBENIEIX MR IA
HEEE
BEPREERUARERPEEM
EHMGERRE AEERA
EEEMEOEERP
BHORMEEDRREREH
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 37. €M I A w)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b SREREEBERBUR
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (Continuea) WA (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) @ 1EEERREEFG (&)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country
in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At 31 December 2024, 48.4%
(2023: 40.9%), of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest trade receivable balance
and 82.8% (2023: 76.6%), was due from the five
largest trade receivable balances.

The Group applies the simplified and general
approach to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for trade
receivables.

BZEWHE (E)
AEBEFMEENEERR -
FTEXERPMEBFEAM
FE MAIEREEPILE
MITESIMEMBER Bt
EAEEEHENEFPNE
REBRK HEESESEHH
EERB-R-T_NF+=
A=1+—H B5RWxEE
B H48.4% (Z T Z=F:
40.9%) BEWAEBE & KT
PR GRIE - M82.8% (=&
T=F:766%) Al REWTRK
B R EWGRIE -

AEEERGER —RITER
B % B 75 R 5 2 R SR O P AR
EMRREEBRERE
HEAMEREZEYFENE
MR B RERE-
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables, other receivables and amount due
from a related company:

@) Trade receivables

As part of the Group's credit risk
management, the Group uses debtors’ aging
to assess the impairment for its customers
because these customers consist of a large
number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the
customers” abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The
following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed on a collective basis by
using provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired).

37. €@ T H @)
b =rREkkEEREBEEEEK

(%)

TiEEM (F)

@) (SEmEBERAETG ()
TEREFIEBAEEANE 5 E
ISR T L s MK OE % E
—MEB AR RENEERR
REHEEERZEN

@) EBZENRTHE
ERAREEERRE
Be -0 AEBE(E
REBAREK R EE
BEPHREE BAEL
EFBHEREABHAR
RBREBHNNER &
ERBRRTEPRE
& RHEF AT P A 2
RIEREE N - TREMH
ERESRKRFIAEE
BB OB (E B L
& i R IR R A B {E T AR
MEMEEER (K%
EEERE)NERE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 37. €M I A w)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b crtEEEERFRIRBER
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continuea) WA (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) @ 1EEERREEFG (&)

@) BZERIE (&)
As at 31 December 2024
R-E-NF¥+-A=+—-H

@) Trade receivables (Continued)

170

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
FRIGRE (%) EEESSA BRER
(Note) RMB'000 RMB'000
(FsE) AR®TR AR®TR
Trade receivables EARKRE
(not credit impaired) (EfEERE)
Current BN &R 2.07%-3.19% 35,766 (917)
Less than 1 month past due BHEDREA 3.96%-23.13% 16,471 (2,389)
1o 3 months past due W E3MEA 10.72%-36.60% 31,681 (10,461)
More than 3 months but less AHESME A A
than 12 months past due EL2(E A 23.81%-72.64% 8,314 (2,025)
More than 12 months past due AE2(E AL £ 64.04%-100.0% 3,071 (2,117)
95,303 (17,909)
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e ISR R M ET (8)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 37. €@ T H @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b 2@EREEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continuea) miEER (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuea) @ 1EEERREEFSG (&)
@)(i) Trade receivables (Continued) @) BZEKNE (&)

As at 31 December 2023
RZE-_=F+-A=1+—H

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
BHEBRE (%) FEERASE EERE
(Note) RMB'000 RMB'000

(FeE ARBTT  ARETR

Trade receivables EARKRE
(not credit impaired) (EEERE)
Current BN & 1.51%-2.69% 26,182 (442)
Less than 1 month past due BEORER 2.99%* 6,144 (184)
1o 3 months past due W E3MEA 8.06%* 1,079 87)
More than 3 months but less BH3EANR L
than 12 months past due BARM2(E A 42.99%* 28,178 (12,115)
More than 12 months past due BE2E A A £ 88.96%* 598 (532)
62,181 (13,360)
Note: Kiat -
A range of expected loss rates were disclosed above, FilEBEO—RIERBEEX BT
which represents difference in expected loss rate applied BEARTBRLENNBRABIMESR
on trade receivables owned by subsidiaries operating in WESRUKREMRANTERER
Hong Kong and the PRC. RHZERo
* There is one expected loss rate disclosed as the * AR HERRANER S —
relevant age group contains only one subsidiary's FEI P /B 12 A1 9 & 55 e W 0
trade receivables. MIER T —HEHEEX
FRIAEYIZERERAT

B EER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)
Market risk (Continued)

(@) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

@) Other receivables and amount due from a

37. €@ R (%)

b TEEREEBREEEK

(%)

miEmE (&)

@

15 BRI 5RREF G ()
@)1y E M fEW B R W —

related company BT I Fl sk E
As at 31 December 2024
RZEZME+ZA=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate (%) amount allowance
RAHERE (%) REOELER ERE R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRE ARBTR
other receivables H 1t FE W R IR
12m ECL PNEAEREEER 12.02% 10,385 (1,248)
Amount due from FE g — R 2 7
a related company R
12m ECL PEAEREEER 2.70% 74 (2)
As at 31 December 2023
RZZZ=%+-H=1—H
Gross
Expected carrying LosS
loss rate (%) amount allowance
EHEBEX (% HREELSE EERE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
other receivables H ft FE l R IR
12m ECL PREREREEER 23.29% 5358 (1,248)
Amount due from e — IR 2 7
a related company RIE
12m ECL PEABHREEER 2.82% 71 @)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 37. €@ T H @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b 2@EREEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) miEER (&)
@  Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continuea) @ 1EEERREEFSG (&)
Expected loss rates are based on historical debts TBEEBREERBERAFHH

recovery rates over the past 5 years. The rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and
the Group's view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the
trade receivables have been assessed on a
collective basis as they possess shared credit risk
characteristics. They have been grouped based on
the days past due.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised)
when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Failure to make payments within 180 days
from the invoice date and failure to engage with
the Group on alternative payment arrangement
amongst other are considered indicators of no
reasonable expectation of recovery.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired related to a wide range of customers for
whom there was no recent history of default.

Debt financial assets other than trade receivables
determine the ECL based on the 12-months ECLS.
The expected loss rates are simply based on the
historical debts recovery rate and adjusted by
forward looking factors including future economy
conditions.

JEE S A8 75 [0 Mk oK o 5% [ Ui R AR
A8 BE LA S R R 52 BRI S HA
B RSB RO - B AR A R AR
B Y R WGRIE R R O AR OE

RANEIE

R ERMEEEER 5
R FERAEBEKREER
M eRme R EETT
A DB RAREBETS

e

B 5 EMGRIE R EE A 1R TE )
A] Uz [e] 65 F LA S 48 ( B ERH A
) o ARge B EE A H#E180H
PSR B AR 1) AN B [ A R LA
KA R HE KB 48 B %
HIETEENE FRIBRIEIZ

B 3 0 74 5L 0 P90
RIS ERORENAR
BF-

Bk B 5 1 YORIR A SN OB
TREERE12MEA RIEEE
ERERERMEREER &
HBRAREENE L EREK
I 5B B B R R RO
ERH AT R RETHAE -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continuea)
Market risk (Continued)

37. €@ R (%)
b =mEMREREBZENBEE
(&)
TIER (4£)

@

Crediit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position
after deducting any impairment allowance. The

@ 1EEmRBRREETG (&)
RmiEERBRIESE BN
KA E MR ER GRS
HeREEMNKEE -A5HE
R Bt H T R 505 & LR AR

Group does not provide any guarantees which ERCIE7C
would expose it to credit risk.
The following tables show reconciliation of loss BB P W GRIEH i FE U R
allowances that has been recognised for trade I8,/ e U R B 5 R TR RE SR Y S
receivables/other receivables/amount due from a BREERONTRAT
related party.
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired) 12m ECL
2R
EEEE
(FEEHRE) 12BF RMEREE
Due from
Trade a related Other
receivables company  receivables Total
P —
HAEEHE WEOE HUtEERE #t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETFTT AR®EFT
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=%-A-H 12,186 2 1,248 13,436
Provision for impairment losses 4 AR (E 518 B 55
during the year, net 1,174 - - 1,174
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=f¥+-A=+-H 13,360 2 1,248 14,610
Provision for impairment losses 4 AjR{E B 1 s 35
during the year, net 4,549 - - 4,549
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-mE+-A=+-H 17,909 2 1,248 19,159
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

(s)

Credlit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In determining the impairment losses for trade
receivables, amount due from a related company
and other receivables, the Group has made
individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade receivables, amount due from a related
company and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and forward-
looking information.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and
derivative instruments. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank loans with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

37. €@ R (%)
cRtEREEBEZ MR
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RANREHEERETESH
WIS 7T 2 BV AGe B R
EMmmEERREEMRSE
TP
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €@ T H#®)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b SREREEBERBUR
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (Continuea) WA (&)
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) b EEEzEE(E)
2024
ZEImE
More than ~ More than Total
Weighted Within 1yearbut 2 years but contractual Carrying
average 1year or less than less than  undiscounted ~ amount at
interestrate  on demand 2 years 5 years cash flow 31 December
R+ZA
—FhE  @E-F@ BazF HESES TS o= ]
i F 7% BREX PRZE BIREEF ik £ FEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERTR AE®TR  ARBTRL AERTT  ARBTRL
Trade and other payables B RAERTE - 100,484 - - 100,484 100,484
Amount due to a director ERESHE - 11,614 - - 11,614 1,614
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  FtEBTER 2.84% 71,275 3,420 120,218 194,913 186,400
182,540 3,420 120,218 306,178 297,665
2023
3%
More than More than Total
Weighted Within 1 year but 2 years but contractual Carrying
average 1year or less than less than undiscounted amount at
interest rate on demand 2years 5years cashflow 31 December
R+=A
—ERE Bh—FE BRCE BEEN ) =+—A#
METHF= REX PRZF BIRRE ReNeLE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AREFT ARBFT ANRBFT ARETT
Trade and other payables EHREMERTE - 47475 - - 47475 47475
Amount due to a director ENESFHE - 10572 - - 10572 10572
Interest-bearing bank borrowings  3f B ETER 295% 78,662 10,204 - 88,866 86,900
136,709 10,204 - 146913 144,947
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(c) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to pledged deposits (see note 22),
and time deposits (see note 23), and fixed-rate
bank borrowings (see note 25) and lease liabilities
(see note 29). The Group's interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (a) below.

a.  Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group's total borrowings at 31
December 2024 and 2023:

37. €@ R (%)

b TEREABREEARIEE
()

miEmEE (&)

©

VeI
AEEHBREHEDEMRTR
(R M sE22) ~ EBAfF 3 (AR
#23)  ERBITER (RMEE
) REEAE (RMEE29) 8
NTEF KRB E A
WASEREHERE N TX
(@) e

a.  FIEM;HA
TRFNNR T —mMF
k-—Z-Z#+—-A4
—t+t—BHAEEERE

FHEYH) AR
2024 2023
ZE-mE —E-=E
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
ERflE & BIRF% Ex)
% RMB'000 % RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Fixed rate borrowings: ERER:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured =t B R1TE - AHEMR 2.84% 186,400 2.95% 86,900
Total borrowings ERBE 186,400 86,900

b.  Sensitivity analysis
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's
total borrowings are fixed rate borrowings
therefore sensitivity analysis is considered not
necessary.

AEENERBERE
EMEBR BAEES
ETHRREDN

hRAEMERERAE
B EER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in USD, AUD and NZD, currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate.

During the years presented, the Group entered
into foreign currency forward contracts with
major state-owned banks in the PRC mainly to
acquire RMB to mitigate against currency risk
on receivables, payables and cash balances
denominated in USD, AUD and NZD. All of the
forward exchange contracts have maturities of less
than one year.

There is no foreign currency forward contract
outstanding as at 31 December 2024.

The aggregate contract sums of the foreign
currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2023, denominated in foreign currency,
were US$6,000,000 and AUD3,000,000. At 31
December 2023, these foreign currency forward
contracts with their fair values were recognised
as derivative financial instruments (assets) of
RMB771,000 and derivative financial instruments
(liabilities) of RMB22,000 (note 21). The changes in
fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts
of approximately RMB749,000 were recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 December 2023.

37. €@ T H(#)
S REREIE B E NRBER

(o)

(%)

miEmE ()

@

EEmE R
AEEHHNERRR 2
RABEIEEHIAINEHEAR
MES (KT BRTRk#HE
M)t EMNHEERRE (B
ERWFIR  BNRBER S
EER)MITENERRER -

FIREER NEEEGEHY
R BRTFIZINEEDRA
#EEZRAREAAREAR
KIASETT R IT R ¥ A M JT AT
1B O 8 YRR - BN SRR 3R
SHEBNEEER - FTA R
SMNEAR KM B R EHE R —F
LA

E-_NE+_A=+—
N4 1) 2R (E B Y AN S R EP
4o

o> m %

RZEZ=F+-_H=+4+—
H REIE®IINEREE D
NN ENENERE R
6,000,000 T % 3,000,000

T RZEZ=%+=ZA
=t+—HB ZEINEERBAEY
WAFERTESRT A (E
E) ANR®E771,00000 B ATE &
BTA (&E) ARK22,0007T
R (ME21) - HE-T ==
F+ZA=+—BILFE I
MEHENNRTEZTHA
R #749,0007T T3 A 47
Re H 2 T Ml o 35 AR RERR
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

@

Currency risk (Continued)

The realised fair value loss on settlement of the
foreign currency forward contracts during the year
amounted to approximately RMB1,084,000 (2023:
RMB9,681,000).

()

Exposure to currency risk

Except for the foreign currency forward
contracts as mentioned above, the following
table details the Group’s exposure at 31
December 2024 to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated
in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.
For presentation purposes, the amounts
of the exposure are shown in Renminbi,
translated using the spot rate at the end of
reporting period. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements of
the entities with functional currency other
than RMB into the Group's presentation
currency are excluded.

37. €@ R (%)

b TEEREEBREEEK

(%)

migEkE (&)

BEEERE (&)
FRNINERBEVEERD
BRATEBBEORARE
1,084,000 C (— T - =4l
s AR #9,681,0007T ) ©

@

(0

B R

BT EREREINE R
HEed TRFANAKRE
ER—ZT_NFE+=A
=T+ —HEERNUAE
BE¥ N BT E R
HEMNEHEREENA
EMELENEBRR-
BRI EZ 5 Bk EE
ARBIR FERAKRE
M RBFRRE
MR AN R LA SN T
BEEEIIBRNEREIB
BEBRERAEEHNZ
)& W EE A ) Z R BB
Ghe

2024
—EmEF

usb AUD NZD

E AT MERT

RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TRE AERBTR AE®TR

Assets BE 144,253 340,281 40,705

Liabilities afE (4,562) (32,449) =
Gross exposure arising from BER ﬁ?&’% f&

recognised assets and liabilities ~ E4 M E K& 139,691 307,832 40,705

hRHEYERAERA R

B EER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(@)

0

37. €@ T H(#)
b <rEREREBZENKEBEER

(#&)
migEkE (&)
Currency risk (Continued) @ EEEkE (&)
Exposure to currency risk (Continued) () EE¥mEE(E)
2023
—EZ=F
usD AUD NZD
x5 BT HAET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT
Assets BE 98,787 227,707 37,223
Liabilities =R (3,903) (10,076) -
Gross exposure arising from BE#ER ﬁ?&é f&
recognised assets and liabilities ~ E4£MEK & 94,884 217,631 37,223

(@

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and
decrease in RMB against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis also
includes intra-group balances where the
denomination of the intra-group balances
is in a currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. A
positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax loss and other equity where RMB
strengthen 5% (2023: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening
of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on
the loss and other comprehensive income
and the amounts below would be negative.

(i) BEEESHT
TREFMLTAEEEA
R® S HBINESS (=
Ti*i 5%)i /UZ.E"]
HEE- 5% (T ==
FE%)=REMEEE
A B A REINER
B A MGRRE K
RERBEHINEEEXS
A B B LAY ET1E - B
RRMEDWTIEBRIERER
RINEETEE®IER -
WA & R ER
BEUER% (2=

F 5% ) Ky HNEE [ R

ft-BREREDNTERE

SENGEHS MEBENRN

HEHRIUNEFRERAD

ee B AN B’ &

B-LATEHEERTAR

MEEBEEAESY

(ZEZ=F:5%) R/

& BRI E b RE 2R IE 0

MRAREHIEBEE

BES% (ZE =%

5% ) i & A H b

RAEWEELEREZEMRA

ROEE UT2ER

REE.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €@ T H @)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b 2@EREEBZREEK
policies (continuea) (%)
Market risk (Continued) migEkE (&)
@  Currency risk (Continued) @ EEELRE (&)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i) BEEDN (&)
2024 2023
—EME —TZ=F
Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase)
in profit in loss after
Increase/ after tax and Increase/ tax and
(Decrease) increase/ (Decrease) increase/
in foreign (decrease) in foreign (decrease)
exchange in retained exchange in retained
rates profits rates profits
iR igs Briiig B8
E7/(TH) TR/ (EH)

SMEEE  REEEV SN EE = R ARE 4 F
7 (F®) LH#/(TFB) LA/ (TH) £/ (TR)

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARET T

Usb E 5% 5,238 5% 3,558
(5)% (5,238) 5)% (3,558)

AUD BT 5% 11,544 5% 8,161
(5)% (11,544) (5)% (8,161)

NZD AR 5% 1,526 5% 1,396
(5)% (1,526) 5)% (1,396)

hRAEMERERAE /I 8"
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continuea)

Market risk (Continued)

©

commodity price risk

(i)

The major raw materials used in the
production of the Group’s products include
fir and pinewood. The Group is exposed
to fluctuations in the prices of these raw
materials which are influenced by the
global market as well as regional supply
and demand conditions. Fluctuations in
the prices of raw materials could adversely
affect the Group's financial performance. The
Group historically has not entered into any
commodity derivative instruments to hedge
the potential commodity price changes. The
Group monitors its commodity price risk by
widening its supply base and performs bulk
purchase when the price of raw materials is
low.

The Group invested in commodity during the
year and is exposed to fluctuations in the
prices of commodity which are influenced by
the gold market. Prices of gold are affected
by a wide range of global and domestic
political and economic factors which are
beyond the control of the Group. A decrease
in such prices could adversely affect the
Group's financial performance. The Group will
keep monitor to its commodity investment.

37. €@ T H(#)
(b)

TRLE R EIE B R NRER

(%)
misER (&)
€ BmERERE
() MAREEREEESRMN
AEZ2RMHBELA
PSRV NENE SETNTEA
&R EHE RS KB B =
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VEMEmITETAY
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ZEmEREESE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

37. €@ R (%)
@ IT A AVEFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial (©)

instruments

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes. In estimating
the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to
the extent it is available. For instruments with significant
unobservable inputs under Level 3, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation technigues
and inputs to the model.

BN B RERN B A NERE A
DEMTARAFEFE -HEMHE
R ER AEHENESHRE
NERMSABERE -HNASR
FZMTEXRTABEHBAENT
B - AEABEFE=7aERKHE
RIETHRE-BREHESERINE
HEMEZSE RELEE NG
BT AR R B 8 AN B

(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value () BAFEIFENESEMIA
Fair value hierarchy DT EZREE

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technigue as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

TREJIAKE ST AR
= HAME A R B R R I AR
ENRATE XDBRREKRY
WamE LR B398 2 F A
EEBEN=BAFERE-B
RPEFAEDENERTIES
ZTMEETEM B8 ARE
MABRERBERHRETE

s FEMMHEE:EERR
— & w AN BE (AR E
ERRBEESEEBR
EBT IS 2 KGR B R
B)FFENAFE

. F_REE-FERAEZ
R A SR (BlRaEE
HE - Re B RE A
HE)ELTAFEAEKR
A B R A SR 2
WATFE T EEE
ABEAEMSHEEY
EPN
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

37. €@ R (%)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial C @BmITEAEZAYE::T=
Instruments (continuea) (#)
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BRAFEFENESMIA
(Continued) (#)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using .
significant unobservable inputs

RFEERHE (B)

E=RMEE-RAEXR
THEBERBABETE

M AFE

31 December 2024
“E-ME¥+ZRA=+-H

Level 1 Level 2
g8 ot
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTRT AERBTR

Level 3 Total
Lt it
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AER®TR

Financial assets at FVTPL BRTEFABR
SREE
~ Other financial assets (note 17) -EMmemEE (WiH17) - 14,024 - 14,024
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEFALMZE
WEMEREE
- Unlisted equity investments (mote 17) —ELMRARE (F17£17) - - 4,324 4,324
- 14,024 4,324 18,348
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 37. €@ R (%)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial © ®#mIEZAFEEZ
instruments (continuea) (#)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value () BAFEIFENESEMIA
(Continued) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) RNFESERHE (&)
31 December 2023
ZZZ=FtZRA=1-H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ FH F=R st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEGABRZY
SHEE
- Derivative financial instruments (ote 21)  —$T4& BT A (#1:#21) - 771 - 771
- Other financial assets (note 17) ~HiemEE (Wi217) - 15,055 - 15,055
Financial assets at FVTOCI BATEFGALZMZE
BhENEBEE
- Unlisted equity investments (mote 17) —ELMRARE (F13£17) - - 3,378 3378
- 15,826 3,378 19,204
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BRATERARRZ
SBAE
- Derivative financial instruments (ote 21)  —$T4& BT A (#15#21) - 22 - 2

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

HEZ_NER-_T_=F
+ZA=+—BItFE F—
MEF_HTAMITEER
IEEEAFE =B E = e
e REBEBNBE AN R FE
EROE M RE B E R
BHERRHEREMER -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
Instruments (continuea)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value

37. €@ T H(#)
c #@mIEZAYEEZE

(%)
() BAFEFENEBMIA

(Continued) (#&)
Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 2 fair FBoRRNFEFEE A
value meastirements BT R A E 15
Fair value as at 31 December Fair value
Financial assets/financial liabilities Assets/(liabilities) hierarchy  Valuation technique(s) and key input(s)
R+ZAZ+-HZLFE KFEER
SMAE SMAR RE/(AR) HE HERTREERANE
2024 2023
ZE-mE —EC-ZE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR AREFT
Derivative financial instruments -I- 77122 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future cash flows are estimated
fTEemIE £ based on forward exchange rates (from observable
forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period) and contracted forward rates, discounted at
arate that reflects the credit risk of various
counterparties.
HERRERE - RRASHERBRBER (RIE
BEBROIBREREX)MELRBERME
TERBTRARHEFEERROLL ZETHR -
Other financial assets
HitemEaE
- Investment products in PRC bank 14,024 15,055 Level 2 With reference to the net assets value of such investment
- RYPBERITZREER E b products as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

announced by the PRC bank.
ZEQARTAMNZEREERR_T_NEF
R-ZE_ZE+_A=+—-BMEEFE-
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial
instruments (continuea)

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurements

Unlisted equity investments

The fair value of the Group’s unlisted equity
securities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 has been
arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out by
an independent professional valuer not connected
with the Group. The unlisted equity securities are
categorised into level 3 of fair value measurement.

Fair value as at 31 December

37. €@ R (%)

Fair value

©

(%)

TR ITAZRFERFE

() BAFEFENEBMIA

(%)

F=RLFEEFTEEZAAE
ER MR AR
FELEMERAKRE

REEFLTRAFFN-Z
—HERZEZ=+=A
=+ HWRAFENREEE
SEVEBENELEEGE
BDHEATEV BB - 3F E T IR AR FE
HFOBAAFEAEE =M

Valuation technique(s)

significant

Financial assets/financial liabilities Assets/(liabilities) hierarchy and key input(s) unobservable input(s)
R+ZB=+-HZLFE LFEER
SREE SRR HE/(AR) HE HERTREERANE EXTARRGARE
2024 2023
—ECME —T-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR AREFR
Financial assets at FVTOCI
BATEHFAEM2EREZSHEE
- Unlisted equity investment 4,324 3,378 Level 3 Using the price/book ratios of Discount for lack of
—FLETRERE =8 comparable listed companies marketability of 30%

adjusted for lack of

marketability discount.
ERAL AR TEER

e EEETRETRE

(2023: 30%).
B2 1 2 HTR30%
(ZEZZF:30%) °
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €@ I H &)
(c) Fair value measurement of financial © ®#mIEZAFEEZE
Instruments (continuea) (%)
(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value () BAFEIFENE@MIA
(Continued) (#&)

Valuation technigues and inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurements (Continuea)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at
fair value based on significant unobservable inputs
(Level 3) are as follows:

K2\ Flaz ERLHAE
ERMRBAZ I (&)
ERERTABREG ABE
(B=F)RATEINENHS
BTANHRINT:

Financial assets at FVTOCI

BOFE AR
REMRLEMEE
2024 2023

—E-ME —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Unlisted equity securities: IELTRAES
At 1 January ®n—A—A 3,378 1,445
Purchased e - 8,750
Total gains/(losses): Wik, (E518) 858 :
—in other comprehensive —REMEEKES
income 946 (6,817)
At 31 December W+=—A=+—H 4,324 3,378
(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (i) RELFEIENEHEER
not carried at fair value BENATE
The carrying values of the Group’s financial I 52 B AN B 8 AR R B BR
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are WeMITAREBEEALIN

not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

ToNFERZE=ZF+4
Zt+—HMAFETEERE
HBo
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5750 U R BEZR)

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. ARIFEME AR ZER
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the subsidiaries are set out below. The class of shares BREMBARNFBHINT BKREE
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated. BHIN TR BRI AL B -
Place of Particulars of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ issued and paid up/ held by the Company Principal activities
Name of company establishment registered capital FOTRBEERE and place of operation
EmEL/ BETRBERS/ Direct Indirect
INGEL BB BREHMEE EE FE TEEEREENY
2024 2023 2024 2023

ZBCmE -—T--F ZBIME -To-F

Green Oceans Investment Holdings Limited The British Virgin Islands 10 shares of USD1 each 100% 100% - - Investment holding in the BVI
(the "BVI")
Green Oceans Investment Holdings Limited RERAES 10RBRIE AR 100% 100% - - REBRZHSREAR
([EBR%EE])
King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of HKD1 each - - 100% 100%  Sales of outdoor wooden
products in Hong Kong
AT (BB BRERAR £ 10,0008 B R 17 T AR - - 100% 100% REBHEPIRER
Fujian Zhangping Kimura Forestry Products Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
("Zhangping Kimura") fnotes () and (i) RMB660,000,000 outdoor wooden products
in the PRC
RREETANMEERAA HE AR AR %660,000,0007T = - 100% 100% RAEEEREEPIAER
(DEFARL) (H20Z0))
Merry Garden (Xiamen) Household Co, Ltd. The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Dormant
(notes (i) and (i) RMB5,000,000
ZEBRE (BN XRARDE (HiE)) HE FHHE AR AR 5,000,000 - - 100% 100% EEEH
Zhangping Merry Garden Import and Export Co. Ltd. ~ The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Sales of outdoor wooden
("MG Import and Export") (notes (i) and (i) RMB30,000,000 products in the PRC
EYTEEZEELOERAF HE £ A A K 30,000,000 - - 100% 100% R EHEPIMER
(REBRERLO]) (H20RM))
Merry Garden Holdings Limited (ot (i) Hong Kong 1 share of HKD1 each - - 100% 100% Investment holding in
Hong Kong
ZEFEERERRA (K 0)) EiE 1RERIBTHRR - - 100% 100% REBREER
Zhangping Merry Garden Biomass Energy The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Development Ltd. (motes (i) and (iij) RMB20,000,000 renewable energy products
inthe PRC
BT EBREENERRAR R FE AR AR 20,000,000 7T = - 100% 100% REEEERHESEER
BRAG (HE)) Em
Zhangping Ruisheng Wood Structure The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
Materials Co., Ltd (motes (i) and (i) RMB3,000,000 wooden products in the PRC
ETRARERURBROA (WEEMRI) R AR AR 53,000,000 1T = - 100% 100% R EIEEREEAR R
PRMEYIERERAE

B EER

189



190

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

/\\/T\

& I RER M 5T (@)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5B HE I+ AN REST)

38. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

PAFTEMBATNZER (2)

Place of Particulars of Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ issued and paid up/ held by the Company Principal activities
Name of company establishment registered capital & 4% ) B 5 0 4 B and place of operation
eI/ BRITRMEES/ Direct Indirect
LRER BRI BREXDOER EE & TERBREENR
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEImME -Z--F ZBIME —ZoCF
Unicreed Holdings Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of - - 100% 100%  Investment holding in
HKD5,653.39 each Hong Kong
BRAEISEERAR Ek 10,0008 - - 100% 100% HEEREER
BR5,653. 39 TR
Unicreed Industry & Trade Co,, Ltd. The PRC Registered capital of - - 100% 100% Manufacturing and sales of
(notes (i) ana (i) USD7,850,000 outdoor wooden products
inthe PRC
BNRATIEERAR (MR I)) A & 47 850,000 7T - - 100% 100% RAPEEERHEPHRER
Modern Pacific Properties Pty Limited (rote (1) Australia 100 shares of AUD 1 each - - 100% 100%  Investment holding in Australia
Modern Pacific Properties Pty Limited (#/z2)) &M 100 BRVRTTAR (D - - 100% 100% FRMEE R
Notes: Mt
(i) These entities are wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the 0] ZEERRRPBERININEBEDRE-
PRC.
(i) These entities are limited liability companies established in the PRC and (ii) ZEEBANPBKZNAR DR &EF AR
are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Zhangping Kimura. NEEHBAR
@iy~ The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The (iii) ZENRMHELBEMRSEZ HEARBU
official names of these companies are in Chinese. P AAE o
(iv)  This entity is a limited liability company established in Hong Kong and is a (iv) Eigﬁgﬂﬁfﬁrﬁﬁkimﬁﬁﬁ A RART (FH)
wholly-owned subsidiary of King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited. ERERARNEZEMEA
(v) This entity is a limited liability company established in Australia and is a (v) Z E‘é’%ﬁﬁéwﬂmimﬁﬁﬁ RAIRAK (FH)
wholly-owned subsidiary of King Wood (Hong Kong) Holding Limited. ERERARNEZEMEA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
e ISR R M ET (8)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (k5 BRI - AN REZT)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. A EEBE MM KK HE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
—E_lE —EC=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
it ARBTT ARETFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR M Em 38 40,488 40,488
40,488 40,488
Current assets mEEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE -Ee Kk
receivables H At fE W R IE - 14
Amounts due from subsidiaries [ CNENGIE /¢ 725,723 711,798
Amount due from a related company JE Y R Bt~ B R IE 19 18
Cash and cash equivalents Re RS EEY 121 314
725,863 712,144
Current liabilities mEE R
Other payables H b~ 30E 857 1,184
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE AR B X B 7R TE 5,663 5,538
Amount due to a director JEfHE EIA 11 4
6,531 6,726
Net current assets mMEOEERE 719,332 705,418
Net assets HERE 759,820 745,906
Equity ga
Share capital A& A< 28(a) 38,462 38,462
Reserves ] 28(b) 721,358 707,444
Total equity EawE 759,820 745,906

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

31 March 2025.

R-TE-HEF=ZA=+—BEEFESHE

KR AETIE -

Wu Zheyan Xie Qingmei
REE WiBxE
Director Director
EE EoE

hRAEMERERAE

B EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e ISR RE (8

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 &#ER5) AN EREESIR)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39. ARIEHEMBEMRREREFEE &)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (continued)
Share share  Exchange Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve losses equity
2.3 BipiaE B R 6 REER gaLs
RVB'000 RVIB'000 RVIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFLT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%¥-H—-H 38,462 696,670 66,206 (64,001) 737,337
Loss for the year FREA - - - (1,075) (1,075)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ENG
for the year - - 9,644 - 9,644
Total comprehensive income/ FR2ERE/ (LH) B8
(expense) for the year - - 9,644 (1,075) 8,569
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+ZRA=+-H
and 1 January 2024 R-ZZ-_ME—-H—H 38,462 696,670 75,850 (65,076) 745,906
Loss for the year FREE - - - (1916) (1,916)
Other comprehensive income FREMZENE
for the year - - 15,830 - 15,830
Total comprehensive income/ FR2ERS/ (XH) B8
(expense) for the year - - 15,830 (1,916) 13914
At 31 December 2024 R-Z2_ME+-A=+—H 38,462 696,670 91,680 (66,992) 759,820
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